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Chairman’s Report 
 

Dear Fellow Shareholders 
 
The challenging financial markets for the junior gold sector continue to impact the Company 
and all of us as shareholders. I would again like to thank loyal shareholders for their 
continuing support.  
 
We have endeavoured to keep our exploration work programs going rather than to stand 
still. This has meant a number of capital raisings have taken place over the past 12 months. 
While our work has been rewarded, we are also mindful of necessary dilutive effect these 
capital raisings may have (to the extent shareholders have not participated).  The Board and 
management continue to endeavour to do what we believe is in the best interest of the 
Company and to place it in a position to advance toward our vision of becoming a producer. 
 
Our primary focus remains the Balogo and Korongou projects in Burkina Faso. These 
projects differ in nature, are at different stages and both provide considerable potential. 
 
As part of our cost cutting measures, we have unfortunately had to undertake a considerable 
number of retrenchments over the past 12 months both in Burkina Faso and Australia. We 
are considering further ways to cut costs and continue to be financially prudent whilst 
maintaining operational capacity. 
 
Our Board has seen changes too. After 13 years as a director, Gilbert Rodgers resigned 
from the Board. Nadir Alhammadi also resigned from the Board following his departure from 
the Royal Group board which he represented. I take this opportunity to again thank Messrs 
Rodgers and Alhammadi for their valuable contributions. More recently Martin Pyle was 
appointed to the Board. Mr Pyle represents Aurora Minerals Limited, a substantial 
shareholder of Golden Rim. 
 
I take this opportunity to thank Craig Mackay and the management team. The Board is very 
much aware of the difficulties management faces. We continue to place our confidence in 
management’s ability to implement the Company’s strategy.  
 
There are some signs of improving market conditions for resource exploration companies 
and accordingly I look forward to the prospects ahead for the Company. 
 
 
Yours faithfully 
GOLDEN RIM RESOURCES LTD 
 

 
RICK CRABB 
Chairman 
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Review of Operations 

 
Figure 1. Location of Golden Rim’s gold projects in Burkina Faso. 
 

Balogo Project, Burkina Faso 
 
The Balogo Project covers 360km2 and is located in southern Burkina Faso (Figure 1). It 
covers part of a highly prospective Lower Proterozoic Birimian greenstone belt and is 
traversed for 25km by a significant north east trending fault splay which is connected to the 
major Markoye Fault system. This fault system controls a number of major gold deposits in 
Burkina Faso, including Taparko/Bouroum (1.6Moz gold), Kiaka (5.9Moz gold), Bomboré 
(5.2Moz gold) and Essakan (6.2Moz gold). 
 
Auger Soil Geochemistry 
 
The Netiana gold resource lies beneath 2m of black transported soil cover. During the year, 
the Company conducted a program of auger soil geochemistry over several prospects close 
to the resource to determine if there are other high grade Netiana-style gold deposits 
beneath the transported soil that were not detected by the initial soil sampling program 
(100m x 50m grid). 
 
A total of 524 auger geochemical samples were collected at Balogo Hill, Netiana, Kabola 
North and Kabola South. Samples were assayed for gold and copper. This program was 
successful in delineating several gold anomalies with a peak gold value of 643 ppb gold. 
Copper values were generally low, with a peak value of 350 ppm copper returned. 
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RC Drilling 
 
RC drilling was carried out in November 2013 over four prospect areas (Netiana North, 
Kabola, Panga Lodes and Balogo Hill) to follow up anomalous auger and trenching results. 
The program included 22 holes for 2,018m. 
 
A new zone of high grade gold mineralisation (Panga Lodes) was discovered 600m north of 
the Netiana Lodes. Hole BRC270 was drilled to follow up previous rock chip sample results 
(up to 3.5 g/t gold), a spot auger soil anomaly (533 ppb gold) and a north east-trending line 
of artisanal workings. It returned an intercept of 14m at 18.8 g/t gold from 34m, including 
4m at 63.8 g/t gold. The gold mineralisation is with a series of quartz-sulphide veins hosted 
in fresh granodiorite with magnetite.  
 
A total of RC 11 holes were drilled at Netiana North. The holes intersected a number of 
narrow parallel zones of gold and copper mineralisation which Golden Rim now interprets 
are south west extensions of the gold and copper mineralisation in the Cobra Shear Zone. 
The best intercepts obtained at Netiana North include: 3m at 1.4 g/t gold from 34m in 
BRC265; and, 2m at 2.2 g/t gold from 32m and 3m at 2.5% copper from 79m in BRC267. 
 
A follow up RC program (6 holes for 726m) was carried out at the Panga Lodes in June 
2014. The RC drilling confirmed the results of the previous discovery intercept. The best new 
RC drill intersections included:  
 

 10m at 8.4 g/t gold from 34m, incl. 2m at 37.0 g/t gold (BRC281);  

 1m at 4.4 g/t gold from 105m (BRC286).  
 
Trenching over the Panga Lodes area confirmed that the majority of the mineralisation is 
trending north-south. A significant 3.2 km long, north south trending corridor was identified. 
This corridor potentially links the Panga Lodes mineralisation to the Netiana mineralisation 
and the auger gold anomalies obtained in drilling at Kabola and Kabola South. 
 
There are a number of untested auger gold anomalies within this corridor that are priority 
targets for future work. The Panga Lodes were discovered after drilling beneath a small 
auger gold anomaly. There are many other similar size and larger gold-in-soil anomalies at 
Balogo that remain untested. 
 
Metallurgical Testwork 
 
Previous metallurgical testwork has also demonstrated excellent gold recoveries of up to 
95% from conventional gravity and CIL processing.  During the year investigations were 
undertaken to explore alternative potentially lower capital-intensity recovery options. 
 
A gravity, flotation, intensive leach metallurgical testwork program was conducted by Gekko 
in Ballarat, Victoria. Coffey Mining Pty Ltd (Coffey) supervised the Gekko testwork on behalf 
of Golden Rim. 
 
The testwork aimed to provide an understanding of the response of the ore to vertical shaft 
impact crushing, gravity separation and flotation, all of which are key components of Gekko’s 
Python pre-concentration processing. In addition to the Python amenability testwork, 
treatment of the concentrate was also assessed by intensive cyanide leaching, as well as a 
diagnostic leach on the flotation tail to determine the percentage of cyanide soluble gold 
remaining in the final tail.  
 
From the Python pre-concentration testwork program the following conclusions were made: 
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 Continuous Gravity Recovery was able to recover 59.5% of the gold and 87.9% of 
the sulphur into 21.5% of the feed mass, indicating that the sample contains gravity 
gold that is amenable to recovery by a Gekko InLine Pressure Jig. 

 An intensive leach on concentrate (50% w/w gravity and 50% w/w flotation 
concentrate) recovered 98.2% of the gold into solution after 24 hours 

 
Mineralogical Studies 
 
Eight half core samples from Balogo were submitted to Pontifex and Associates Pty Ltd in 
South Australia. Polished thin sections were prepared from each sample. These thin 
sections were examined to determine their petrography, as well as opaque oxide and 
sulphide minerals, identified by reflected light microscopy.  
 
Environmental Impact Assessment 
 
During the year SOCREGE Sarl (SOCREGE) conducted a substantial portion of an 
Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA). The EIA is comprised of three phases. 
Approximately half of the final phase is complete. The final part of the third phase will be 
completed upon receipt of information from the feasibility study, such as the location of 
infrastructure, so that the specific environmental impacts can be considered and correlated 
accordingly. Currently the feasibility study work is suspended until funding is secured. 
 

Korongou Project, Burkina Faso 
 
The Korongou Project covers 65km2 and is located 230km north east of Ouagadougou, the 
capital of Burkina Faso. The Project covers part of the highly prospective Lower Proterozoic 
Birimian, Samira Hill Greenstone belt and is traversed by a significant north east-trending 
fault splay which is connected to the major Markoye Fault system. This fault system controls 
a number of major gold deposits in Burkina Faso, including Kiaka (5.9 Moz), Bomboré (5.2 
Moz) and Essakan (6.2 Moz) (Figure 1). This mineralised fault system extends into western 
Niger where the 2.5Moz Samira Hill is located. 
 
During the year a new prospect area, Big Veins, was identified. It has a different style of gold 
mineralisation to the quartz vein associated gold mineralisation seen at the Banouassi 
Prospect. 
 
Geological mapping and rock chip sampling was carried out across the permit. Mapping was 
completed over the entire 16km long, shear-hosted, gold mineralised corridor at Korongou. 
The corridor has been divided into 3 prospect areas (Banouassi, Namagdo and Big Veins). 
Up to 20 parallel gold mineralised structures have been identified at Banouassi, 9 structures 
at Namagdo, and 5 structures at Big Veins. 
 
At Banouassi and Namagdo the gold mineralisation is associated with quartz veining and 
with silica-carbonate-hematite-pyrite-altered and sheared andesite. At Big Veins the gold 
mineralisation is more disseminated and is generally not related to quartz veining. Rather, it 
appears to be hosted in sheared and interbedded iron-rich volcaniclastics which have been 
subjected to silica and sometimes carbonate alteration.  
 
A total of 205 rock chip samples have been collected across Korongou in the past 12 
months. Samples have been taken from in situ outcrop and artisanal workings. There are 
also historical records for an additional 367 rockchip samples. The highest values (313 g/t, 
141 g/t and 108 g/t gold) were obtained from quartz veining at Banouassi and Namagdo. 
The disseminated style of gold mineralisation at Big Veins is generally lower in grade, with 
best results including 22.3 g/t, 9.7 g/t and 5.3 g/t gold.  
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RC Drilling 
 
During the year, a program of 36 RC holes for 4,492m was carried out. The program was 
designed to follow up intercepts from the previous drilling program at Banouassi, and to test 
areas of artisanal mining where significant rock chips have been returned at the Banouassi, 
Namagdo and Big Veins prospects.  
 
The drilling has confirmed multiple parallel zones of significant gold mineralisation, over 
extensive strike lengths. The best new RC drill intersections include: 
 

 4m at 9.2 g/t gold from 40m, including 1m at 31.5 g/t gold (NKRC005) 

 6m at 4.0 g/t gold from 41m, including 1m at 17.1 g/t gold (BARC028) 

 2m at 17.2 g/t gold from 44m (BARC029) 

 4m at 9.0 g/t gold from 65m, including 2m at 16.0 g/t gold (BARC035) 

 4m at 5.8 g/t gold from 8m, including 1m at 16.0 g/t gold, and 2m at 2.6 g/t gold 
from 32m (BARC038) 

 13m at 2.0 g/t gold from 120m, including 1m at 14.9 g/t gold (BARC044) 

 9m at 1.3 g/t gold from 17m (KKRC001).  
 
Mineralisation in the western and central zones at the Banouassi Prospect is considered to 
have sufficient continuity to plan a resource definition drilling program.  
 
Auger Drilling 
 
During May 2014, a program of auger drilling commenced at Korongou. Two auger rigs were 
in operation, with each rig completing approximately 30 holes per day. By the end of June 
2014, a total of 1,179 samples had been collected. 
 
Auger drilling has successfully identified new zones of bedrock gold mineralisation under 
shallow cover, away from the existing artisanal workings.  
 

Yako Project, Burkina Faso 
 
The Yako Project covers an area of 317km2 and comprises two permits, Zanna and Tanlili.  
The Project area is located 100km north west of Ouagadougou, in the highly prospective 
Boromo greenstone-belt (Figure 1). 
 
True Gold Mining’s (TSX: TGM) 3.4Moz Karma Project lies in the permits immediately 
adjoining the western and northern boundaries of Yako. Amara Mining’s (LSE: AMA) 0.6Moz 
Sega gold deposit lies in the permit immediately adjoining the eastern boundary of Yako. 
About 16km south east of Yako, Amara operates the 0.8Moz Kalsaka Gold Mine.  
 
No work has been carried out on the Yako Project this year. Golden Rim is continuing 
divestment activity. 
 

Sebba Project, Burkina Faso 
 
The Sebba Project is located in the north east of Burkina Faso and is comprised of six 
granted exploration permits covering an area of approximately 795km2 (Figure 1). The 
permits are located on several greenstone belts which are traversed by major deep-seated 
shear zones and are considered highly prospective for the discovery of significant gold 
mineralisation. 
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No work has been carried out on the Sebba Project this year. Golden Rim is continuing 
divestment activity. 
 

Babonga Project, Burkina Faso 
 
The Babonga Project is located in the north east of Burkina Faso and is comprised of one 
granted exploration permit covering an area of approximately 102km2 (Figure 1). The permit 
is located on the Samira Hill greenstone belt which hosts the 2.5 Moz Samira Hill gold mine 
in Niger, and contains numerous active artisanal mines along its length. 
 
No work has been carried out on the Babonga Project this year. Golden Rim is continuing 
divestment activity. 
 

Diapaga Project, Burkina Faso 
 
The Diapaga Project covers an area of 960km2 and is located approximately 350km from 
Ouagadougou, the capital of Burkina Faso (Figure 1). It lies on the north east-trending 
Diapaga Birimian greenstone belt and is bisected by a series of major and complex shear 
structures running into Niger and connected to the major Markoye Fault system. The 
Markoye Fault system hosts a number of significant gold deposits in Burkina Faso, including 
Taparko (1.7Moz), Kiaka (5.9Moz), Essakane (6.2Moz) and Bomboré (5.2Moz). 
 
Under a Terms Sheet for the Diapaga Joint Venture (JV Agreement), Blina Minerals NL 
(Blina) is to carry out exploration activities at Diapaga and may earn a 51% interest in the 
rights to the project permits by spending $2M within 30 months. Following the initial earn-in, 
at Golden Rim’s discretion, Blina may earn an additional 19% interest. 
 
During the year, Blina conducted an auger drilling program at Diapaga. No significant results 
were obtained. On 23 June 2014, Golden Rim received notice from Blina that it intended to 
withdraw from the JV Agreement. 
 

Ivory Coast Permits 
 
Golden Rim has two granted permits in Ivory Coast (Kongasso and Koyekro), covering 
795km2. A third permit (Nguessankro) is under application. 
 
The Kongasso Permit is located on a major structural corridor running south west-north east 
through the whole country. The permit overlays a narrow volcano-sedimentary belt squeezed 
between granitic batholiths. These early Eburnean plutons are thought to be barren, allowing 
the exploration work to focus on a 150km2 volcano-sedimentary strip of land. 
 
The Koyekro Permit is underlain by metasediments and granitic intrusions. A major shear 
runs north-south along the western border of the permit.  
 
Rockchip sampling 
 
The Company conducted reconnaissance mapping and rockchip sampling across the 
Kongasso Permit during the year. Dense vegetation covers most of the permit. As a result, 
the samples were picked up along the roads. Most were milky massive quartz fragments 
from veinlets.  
 
One anomalous result was received from alluvial gravel from artisanal workings located 
close to the Fouanga village, which returned 0.72 g/t gold.  
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Soil Geochemistry 
 
The Company also conducted a gold-in-soil geochemistry reconnaissance program across 
both permits during the year. At Kongasso a total of 68 samples were collected along two 
tracks that crossed the most interesting geological formations. 
 
At Koyekro access was difficult, resulting in the collection of 41 samples along a single dirt 
road. 
 
No anomalous gold results were returned from either permit, however given lack of outcrop 
and limited soil profiles available at surface sampling may have been ineffective. 
 

Mali Projects 
 
The Sepola Project covers approximately 186km2 and lies approximately 40km south east 
from the Sadiola and Yatela gold mines (containing more than 15Moz gold) and 
approximately 40km north west of the Loulo gold deposit (containing more than 11Moz gold) 
in western Mali.  
 
The Faraba Project is comprised of two granted exploration permits, Faraba and Niaouleni 
West, covering 40.4km2 of highly prospective Lower Proterozoic Birimian volcano-
sedimentary rocks in southern Mali. These types of rocks are known to host major gold 
deposits throughout West Africa.  
 
No work was conducted on the Projects and Golden Rim has decided to divest its Malian 
assets.  
 

Bergslagen Joint Venture, Sweden 
 
The Falun Project comprises six permits covering 101km2 in and around the historic mining 
centre of Falun, located 200km north west of Stockholm. The Falun Project forms part of the 
Bergslagen Joint Venture (BJV) between Royal Falcon Mining LLC (Golden Rim’s 35% 
owned Abu Dhabi Alliance Company) and Drake Resources Ltd.   
 
Falun was first mined around 700AD and was the largest copper producing mine in Europe 
during the 17th and 18th centuries. The mine was closed in 1992 after operating for more 
than 1,400 years. Records show that more than 35m tonnes of high-grade ore were mined 
containing on average 1-3% copper, 2-6% zinc and 1-7 g/t gold. Falun is regarded as one of 
the world’s great, massive sulphide mineralising systems. 
 
No work was conducted on the Project during the year. Golden Rim continued its divestment 
activity for the BJV assets.  
 

Mineral Resource Statement  
 
During the year, no work was carried out on the Company’s mineral resources and therefore 
there has been no material change to any mineral resource.  
 
The Company’s Mineral Resource Summary (based on the 2004 edition of the JORC Code) 
as at 30 June 2014 is as follows: 
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Project 2013 
Commodity 
Type 
(including 
grade/quality) 

2014 
Commodity 
Type 
(including 
grade/quality) 

2014 Mineral 
Resource 
Category 

2013 Total 
Mineral 
Resources 

2014 Total 
Mineral 
Resources 

Geographical 
area 

Balogo 6.8 g/t Gold 6.8 g/t Gold Inferred 185,000 oz 185,000 oz Burkina Faso 

Sepola 
(Mogoyafara 
Sth) 

1.5 g/t Gold 1.5 g/t Gold Inferred 165,000 oz 165,000 oz Mali 

Sepola 
(Linnguekoto 
Nth) 

1.7 g/t Gold 1.7 g/t Gold Inferred 16,000 oz 16,000 oz Mali 

Falun* 2.4 g/t Gold 
0.6% Copper 

2.4 g/t Gold 
0.6% Copper 

Inferred 44,000 oz 
3,489 t 

44,000 oz 
3,489 t 

Sweden 

 
* Tenements held under a joint venture between Royal Falcon Mining LLC, Golden Rim’s 35% owned 
Abu Dhabi alliance company, and Drake Resources Ltd.  Royal Falcon Mining LLC’s interest is 51% 
making Golden Rim’s effective interest 18%. 

 

Governance and Internal Controls 
 
Given the size of the Company and the internal expertise available to it, the Company does 
not calculate its own estimates of mineral resources. It engages reputable, suitably qualified 
external party to review the Company’s data and determine an estimate of mineral 
resources. All data is collected and recorded in accordance with JORC requirements. There 
has been no external audit or review of the Company’s techniques or data. 
 

Corporate  
 
Financial  
 
During the year, the Company undertook various fundraising activities. These included: 
 

 placement of 85 million fully paid ordinary shares in the Company at an issue price of 
2.2 cents per share to raise $1.87 million (before costs);  

 share purchase plan where each share was issued at 1.02 cents to raise A$765,000 
(before costs); 

 placement for 50 million fully paid ordinary shares in the Company at an issue price 
of 1 cent per share to raise A$500,000 (before costs) with an attaching option for 
each share issued to Acorn Capital Limited (Acorn). The exercise price of the 
options is 1.5 cents each with an expiry date of 30 June 2015;  

 placement of 49.1 million fully paid ordinary shares in the Company at an issue price 
of 1 cent each, with one attaching option for every three Shares issued, to raise 
$491,000 (before costs) to a number of sophisticated investors. The exercise price of 
the options is 1.5 cents each with an expiry date 12 months from date of issue; and 

 secured convertible loan of A$3 million from Aurora Minerals Ltd (Aurora).  
 
The Company has been conscious of balancing the need for cash to ensure an ongoing 
exploration work program while being aware that the market conditions are not favourable to 
raising capital. However, because of its fundraising activities, Golden Rim has been in a 
position to continue to meet options payments on the Company’s key projects, mainly 
Korongou, and undertake exploration work. In particular, the secured convertible loan of A$3 
million enabled the Company to immediately re-commence work programs in Burkina Faso 
on both the Korongou and Balogo projects.   
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The Company is pleased to have the support of Acorn and Aurora as substantial 
shareholders and is encouraged by the confidence these supporters place in the Company 
given the difficult financial conditions the junior gold sector has experienced in recent times. 
 
The Company continues to strictly monitor its expenditure and outgoings. During the year it 
was successful in renegotiating options payments for some of its projects, including the 
Korongou Project. The Company undertook several rounds of retrenchments in both 
Australia and Burkina Faso.  
 
Feasibility Study Funding 
 
During the year the Company signed an Indicative Terms Sheet with RMB Resources 
Limited for RMB Australia Holdings Ltd to provide up to A$4 million to fund the completion of 
Golden Rim’s feasibility study for the Balogo Project. However, the funding did not proceed. 
Golden Rim has been approached by several other parties also interested in funding the 
feasibility study at Balogo. Until funding is secured the feasibility study work is on hold. 
 
Board Changes 
 
During the year, Mr Nadir Alhammadi resigned from the Board of Directors. Mr Alhammadi’s 
appointment to the Board was as a representative of PAL Technology Services LLC, a 
substantial shareholder of the Company. Mr Alhammadi is no longer on the Board of PAL 
Technology Services LLC and therefore has resigned from the Board of Golden Rim. 
 
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, Mr Martin Pyle, a nominee of Aurora was 
appointed to the Board. Mr Pyle is the Managing Director of Aurora and has over 25 years of 
finance and resource industry experience. His professional geological career includes mine 
geology, exploration, resource and reserve estimation and feasibility study analysis. He also 
has experience as a resource analyst, mining industry consultant, company director and 
corporate advisor, including 17 years in senior roles with major stockbroking firms. Mr Pyle 
holds Bachelor of Science (First Class Honours – Geology) and Masters of Business 
Administration degrees.  
 
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, Mr Gilbert Rodgers resigned as a director. Mr 
Rodgers was a director of Golden Rim since 2001 during which time he has played a crucial 
role in the growth and development of the Company.  
 

Mining Tenements Schedule  
 
The Company’s mining tenements held as at 30 June 2014 are set out below. 
 

Tenement name Project name 
Golden Rim Holding  

(%) 
Golden Rim’s potential 

equity (%) 
Mali    

Kolomba Sepola 90 90 
Kolumba North 
Gourbassi East 

Sepola 
Sepola 

90 
90 

90 
90 

Kenibandi East Sepola 100 100 
Faraba Faraba 90 90 
Niaouleni West Faraba 90 90 

Burkina Faso    
Yipely Sebba 100 100 
Komondi Sebba 100 100 
Maba Sebba 100 100 
Nasoulou Sebba 100 100 
Babonga Babonga 100 100 
Zanna Yako 100 100 
Tanlili Yako 0 100 
Balogo Balogo 100 100 
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Tenement name Project name 
Golden Rim Holding  

(%) 
Golden Rim’s potential 

equity (%) 
Dabiyan III Balogo 100 100 
Zaptenga Balogo 0 0 
Antyaga Diapaga 0 100 
Bagari Diapaga 0 100 
Gounda Diapaga 0 100 
Kountiagou Diapaga 0 100 
Korongou  Korongou 0 90 
Gandeni Korongou 0 90 

Ivory Coast    
Kongasso  100 100 
Koyekro  100 100 

Sweden *    
Falun nr100 Falun 18 18 
Falun nr101 Falun 18 18 
Falun nr102 Falun 18 18 
Falun nr104 Falun 18 18 
Falun nr105 Falun 18 18 
Haghed Falun 18 18 
Krondiket Falun 18 18 
Skyttgruvan nr2 Falun 18 18 

 
* Tenements held under BJV between Royal Falcon Mining LLC (Golden Rim’s 35% owned Abu 
Dhabi alliance company) and Drake Resources Ltd.  Royal Falcon Mining LLC’s interest is 51% 
making Golden Rim’s effective interest 18%. 

 
The information in this report relating to rock chip sample results (Korongou) and RC drilling results (Balogo and 
Korongou) and auger results is extracted from the announcements:  

 Quarterly Activities Report dated 31 December 2013  

 High Grade Gold Assays from the Korongou Project dated 1 April 2014 (subsequently amended on 23 May 
2014) 

 51.5g/t Gold Received in Sampling at Korongou dated 10 April 2014 (subsequently amended on 23 May 
2014) 

 High Grade Gold Assays from Korongou dated 23 May 2014; and  

 Drilling Programs Underway at Korongou dated 27 May 2014;  

 818g/t (26 oz/t) Gold Received in Sampling at Korongou and Drilling Update dated 19 June 2014;  

 Korongou Delivers Significant Drilling Results dated 7 July 2014 

 10m at 8.4 g/t gold intersected at the Panga Lodes dated 18 July 2014,  
and has been reported in accordance with the 2012 edition of the JORC Code. These announcements are 
available on the Company’s website (www.goldenrim.com.au). The Company confirms that it is not aware of any 
new information or data that materially affects the information included in these announcements. 
 
The information in this public report that relates to some exploration results and mineral resources including 
previous RC drilling at Panga, the Inferred Resource at Balogo and some rock chip samples at Korongou is 
based on information compiled by Mr Craig Mackay who is a member of The Australasian Institute of Mining and 
Metallurgy. Mr Mackay is an employee of Golden Rim Resources Ltd. Mr Mackay has sufficient experience which 
is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity which he is 
undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2004 Edition of the Australasian Code for 
Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves. Mr Mackay consents to the inclusion in 
the report of the matters based on his information in the form and context in which it appears. Golden Rim 
continues to report exploration results as defined under the 2004 edition of the JORC Code where those results 
were initially reported prior to the 2012 edition of the JORC Code. Those exploration results have not been 
reported to comply with the 2012 edition of the JORC Code on the basis that the information has not materially 
changed since it was last reported. 
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Directors’ Report 

The directors present their report on the consolidated entity consisting of Golden Rim and 
the entities it controlled at the end of or during the year ended 30 June 2014. 
 

Directors 
 
The following persons were directors of Golden Rim during or since the end of the reporting 
period and up to the date of this Directors’ Report except as stated below: 
 
 Rick Crabb 
 Craig Mackay 

Gilbert Rodgers (resigned 1 July 2014) 
 Glenister Lamont 
 Nadir Alhammadi (resigned 16 August 2013) 
 Martin Pyle (appointed 18 July 2014). 
 

Principal Activities 
 
The principal activities of the consolidated entity during the course of the reporting period 
were mineral exploration and investment.  There were no significant changes in the nature of 
those activities during the reporting period. 
 

Operating Results 
 
During the reporting period the consolidated entity incurred an operating loss after tax of 
$4,955,439 (2013: $10,200,990), which includes mineral exploration expenditure written off 
of $2,894,227 (2013: $6,923,304). 
 

Dividends 
 
No dividends have been paid or declared since the end of the previous financial year and no 
dividend is recommended in respect of this financial year. 
 

Subsequent Events 
 
On 31 July 2014, Mr Gilbert Rodgers’ role as an executive of the Company became 
redundant. Accordingly, Mr Rodgers received termination pay of $141,878 in accordance 
with his employment agreement and statutory requirements.  
 
Following shareholder approval on 8 July 2014, the Company issued: 
 

 to Aurora Minerals Limited (Aurora), 206,250,000 fully paid ordinary shares in the 
Company at a deemed issue price of 0.8 cents per share in partial repayment of the 
loan from Aurora; and 

 

 to Acorn Capital Limited, 24,414329 fully paid ordinary shares in the Company at an 
issue price of 0.8 cents per share, resulting in the Company receiving $195,315. 

 
On 10 September 2014, the Company announced it had signed a formal Finders Agreement 
with an affiliate of Sprott Inc. (Sprott). The agreement provides the placement of a minimum 
of 230 million shares and up to 275 million shares in the Company at an issue price of 
$0.011 per share. For every two shares issued, subscribers receive one attaching unlisted 
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option with an exercise price of $0.0165 and expiring on the third anniversary of issuance. 
On 18 September 2014, the Company announced it had received commitments from 
investors to subscribe for at least 233,305,000 shares which will raise A$2,566,355 (before 
costs). Currently these funds are being held in escrow. The raising remains subject to 
shareholder approval of the issuance of the shares and options under the Finders 
Agreement and also subject to shareholders approving the second tranche conversion under 
the Aurora loan agreement. A general meeting of shareholders to seek both approvals is 
scheduled to be held in late October 2014. 
 

Likely Developments 
 
Details of important developments occurring in this reporting period have been covered in 
the Review of Operations. As the outcome of exploration and subsequent development is 
uncertain, it is impossible to determine the effect on the results of the consolidated entity’s 
operations. To progress the Company’s exploration and potential development business, 
additional capital will be required in the future. 
 
Further information on likely developments in the operations of the consolidated entity and 
the expected results of operations have not been included in this Annual Report, as the 
directors believe it is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the consolidated entity. 
 

Review of Operations 
 
The Review of Operations has been disclosed separately in this Annual Report. 
 

Significant Changes in the State of Affairs 
 
In the opinion of the directors, there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the 
consolidated entity that occurred during the reporting period except as stated elsewhere in 
this Annual Report. 
 

Corporate Information 
 
Golden Rim is a public listed company incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Golden Rim 
has prepared a consolidated financial report incorporating the entities that it controlled 
during the reporting period. Set out below is Golden Rim’s relationship to its controlled 
entities. 
 

Associated Gold Mines of Victoria Pty Ltd 100% owned controlled entity 

Golden Rim SAR Exploration SARL 90% owned controlled entity 

Golden Rim Mali SA 100% owned controlled entity 

Golden Rim Resources Burkina SARL 100% owned controlled entity 

Talpha Burkina SARL 100% owned controlled entity 

Golden Rim Resources Cote d’Ivoire SARL 100% owned controlled entity 

 
Additionally, Golden Rim has a 35% interest in an alliance company, Royal Falcon (for the 
purposes of this Annual Report, Royal Falcon is treated as a joint venture company). The 
Group’s interest in this company has been accounted for on the equity method in this 
financial report. 
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Information on Directors 
 
Details of the directors of the Company in office at any time during or since the end of the 
reporting period are: 
 
Rick Crabb BJuris(Hons); LLB; MBA; FAICD Non Executive Chairman  
 

Experience and Expertise  
 

Rick Crabb holds degrees of Bachelor of Jurisprudence (Honours), Bachelor of Laws 
and Master of Business Administration from the University of Western Australia. He 
practiced as a solicitor from 1980 to 2004 specialising in mining, corporate and 
commercial law. He has advised on all legal aspects including financing, marketing, 
government agreements and construction contracts for many resource development 
projects in Australia and Africa. Mr Crabb now focuses on his public company 
directorships and investments. He has been involved as a director and strategic 
shareholder in a number of successful public companies.  Mr Crabb is a Councillor on 
the Western Australian Division of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. Mr 
Crabb has been a director of Golden Rim since 22 August 2001. 

 
Other Directorships 

 
During the reporting period, Mr Crabb was a director of the following other public listed 
companies: 

 
Paladin Resources Ltd (appointed 8 February 1994) 
Platypus Minerals Limited (appointed 1 September 1999) 
Otto Energy Limited (appointed 19 November 2004) 

 
Mr Crabb has not held any other directorships in public listed companies during the 
last 3 years. 

 
Special Responsibilities 

 
Mr Crabb is the non executive chairman of the Board and a member of the Company’s 
Audit Committee. He also chairs the Company’s Remuneration Committee. 

 
Interests in Shares and Options 
 
Mr Crabb and his associates hold directly and indirectly the following securities in the 
capital of the Company at the date of this Directors’ Report: 
 

Fully paid ordinary shares 34,726,38 

Class H Options expiring 21 November 2015 exercisable at 29 cents 3,000,000 

 
Craig Mackay BApp.Sc-App.Geol; BSc(Hons); MSc; MAusIMM; MAICD Managing 
Director  

 
Experience and Expertise  
 
Craig Mackay is a geologist with 27 years experience and holds a Bachelor of Applied 
Science – Applied Geology, Bachelor of Science (Honours) and Master of Science 
degrees. He is also a Member of the Australian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy and 
the Australian Institute of Company Directors. Mr Mackay has held positions with a 
number of major resource companies, including Shell, Acacia Resources Ltd and 
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AngloGold Ashanti Ltd. Mr Mackay has been a director of Golden Rim since 8 October 
2004 and Managing Director since 19 February 2007. 
 
Other Directorships 
 
Mr Mackay does not hold any other directorships in public listed companies and he 
has not held any such directorships during the last 3 years. 
 
Special Responsibilities 
 
Mr Mackay is the Managing Director of Golden Rim. 
 
Interests in Shares and Options 

 
Mr Mackay and his associates hold directly and indirectly the following securities in the 
capital of the Company at the date of this Directors’ Report: 
 

Fully paid ordinary shares 6,106,779 

Class F Options expiring 22 November 2014 exercisable at 27 cents 3,500,000 

Class H Options expiring 21 November 2015 exercisable at 29 cents 5,000,000 

 
Gilbert Rodgers BBus; CA(Aust); FCPA; FAICD Executive Director (Finance) 
 

Experience and Expertise  
 
Gilbert Rodgers is a Chartered Accountant. He holds the degree of Bachelor of 
Business and is Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. He has served 
as a director of Australian Securities Exchange listed resource companies including 
Pilbara Mines NL, Africwest Gold NL and Chester Mining Limited. Mr Rodgers has 
been involved in the mining industry for more than 30 years. Mr Rodgers was a 
director of Golden Rim from 22 August 2001 until his resignation on 1 July 2014. 
 
Other Directorships 
 
Mr Rodgers does not hold any other directorships in public listed companies and he 
has not held any such directorships during the last 3 years. 
 
Special Responsibilities 
 
Mr Rodgers was responsible for financial management of all Group companies, 
including budgeting, preparation of statutory reports and tax management. He also 
supported the Managing Director on strategic planning and investor relations. 
 
Interests in Shares and Options 
 
Mr Rodgers and his associates hold directly and indirectly the following securities in 
the capital of the Company at the date of this Directors’ Report: 
 

Fully paid ordinary shares 3,672,206 

Class F Option expiring 22 November 2014 exercisable at 27 cents 3,500,000 

Class H Options expiring 21 November 2015 exercisable at 29 cents 4,000,000 

 



 
Golden Rim Resources Ltd 

 

 
Page | 18 

Glenister Lamont BEng–Min(Hon), MBA; FAICD; MAusIMM; FFIN Non Executive 
Director  

 
Experience and Expertise  
 
Glenister Lamont has an Honours degree in Mining Engineering and a Masters of 
Business Administration from IMD, Switzerland. Mr Lamont is a Fellow of the Financial 
Services Institute of Australasia, a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors and a Member of the Australian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. He has 
worked as an engineer and manager in gold, base metal and coal mines. Previously 
as General Manager for Ashton Mining Ltd, he led strategic planning and commercial 
implementation of business development. Before that, as an Executive Director at 
UBS, he undertook financial, technical and strategic evaluation of companies and 
participated in many corporate transactions. Mr Lamont is a professional non executive 
director and consultant on investor relations. Mr Lamont has been a director of Golden 
Rim since 17 July 2007. 
 
Other Directorships 
 
During the reporting period, Mr Lamont was a director of the following other public 
listed companies: 

 
Strategic Energy Resources Ltd (appointed 11 December 2008) 
Valence Industries Ltd (a company listed in January 2014) (appointed 17 
December 2008) 

 
Mr Lamont has not held any other directorships in public listed companies during the 
last 3 years. 
 
Special Responsibilities 
 
Mr Lamont is a member of the Company’s Remuneration Committee. He is also a 
member of and chairs the Company’s Audit Committee. 
 
Interests in Shares and Options 
 
Mr Lamont and his associates hold directly and indirectly the following securities in the 
capital of the Company at the date of this Directors’ Report: 
 

Fully paid ordinary shares 878,051 

Class H Options expiring 21 November 2015 exercisable at 29 cents 1,500,000 

 
Nadir Alhammadi BAppSc(Avionics); PGradDip (Engineering Business Management) 
Non Executive Director 
 

Experience and Expertise 
 
Nadir Alhammadi is a United Arab Emirates Citizen. He graduated from Embry Riddle 
Aeronautical University in Florida, USA in 1990 and holds a Bachelor of Science 
Degree in Aviation Electronics (Avionics). Mr Alhammadi was awarded a Post 
Graduate in Engineering Business Management from Warwick University, London in 
2002 and participated in The Advanced Management Programme held at INSEAD in 
Fontainebleau, France in March 2007. In 2007, Mr Alhammadi was appointed Deputy 
Chief Executive Officer of Presidential Flight. Prior to this, Mr Alhammadi participated 
in establishing the Company GAMAERO (a joint venture between Gamco & 
Aerospatiale), formed to support the A320 and A340 fleet. Mr Alhammadi served as 
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Executive Director at GAMAERO. Mr Alhammadi was a director of Golden Rim from 7 
December 2009 until his resignation on 16 August 2013. 
 
Other Directorships 
 
Mr Alhammadi holds a directorship in Abu Dhabi Aviation Co, a public company listed 
on the Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange (appointed 10 April 2008). 
 
Mr Alhammadi has not held any other directorships in public listed companies during 
the last 3 years. 
 
Interests in Shares and Options 
 
Mr Alhammadi directly holds the following securities in the capital of the Company at 
the date of this Directors’ Report: 
 

Fully paid ordinary shares Nil 

Class H Options expiring 21 November 2015 exercisable at 29 cents 1,500,000 

 
 
Martin Pyle BSc(Hons); MBA Non Executive Director 
 

Experience and Expertise 
 
Martin Pyle has over 25 years of finance and resource industry experience. His 
professional geological career includes mine geology, exploration, resource and 
reserve estimation and feasibility study analysis. He also has experience as a resource 
analyst, mining industry consultant, company director and corporate advisor, including 
17 years in senior roles with major stockbroking firms. Mr Pyle is the Managing 
Director of Aurora Minerals Limited, a substantial shareholder of Golden Rim. Mr Pyle 
was appointed to the Board of Golden Rim on 18 July 2014. 
 
Other Directorships 

 
During the reporting period, Mr Pyle was a director of the following other public listed 
companies: 

 
Aurora Minerals Limited (appointed 7 May 2010) 
Peninsula Mines Limited (appointed 7 May 2010) 
Gold Road Resources Limited (appointed 23 June 2010) 

 
Mr Pyle held the following other directorships in public listed companies during the last 
3 years: 
 

Cobre Montana NL (resigned 2 October 2013) 
Tanami Gold NL (resigned 23 April 2013) 
Syndicated Metals Limited (resigned 30 November 2011) 

 
Interests in Shares and Options 
 
Mr Pyle and his associates do not hold, directly and indirectly, any securities in the 
capital of the Company at the date of this Directors’ Report. 
 

It is noted that in relation to special responsibilities of the directors, due to the relative small 
size of the Company, all directors are generally involved in the decision making process of 
material matters affecting the Company. 
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Company Secretary 
 
Hayley Butcher is a governance professional and Chartered Secretary, holding a Graduate 
Diploma in Applied Corporate Governance. She is responsible for the compliance of the 
Company including Corporations Law, ASX Listing Rules and other statutory requirements.  
She is also responsible for the corporate governance of the Company. Ms Butcher holds the 
degree of Masters of Science, Leadership and is a graduate of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors. 
 

Meetings of Directors 
 
The following table sets out the number of meetings held during the year ended 30 June 
2014 by directors and Board committees, and the attendances. 
 
 Board Meetings Audit Committee 

Meetings 
Remuneration 

Committee 
Meetings 

Nomination 
Meetings 

 Number eligible to attend / attended 
R Crabb 12/12 2/2 1/1 1/1 
C Mackay 10/12 - - 1/1 
G Lamont 12/12 2/2 1/1 1/1 
G Rodgers 12/12 - - 1/1 
N Alhammadi

1
 NA - - - 

M Pyle
2
 NA - - - 

 
1. There were no board meeting held for the time Mr Alhammadi was a director during the 
reporting period. 
2. Mr Pyle was appointed after 30 June 2014. 
 

Shares under Option  
 
The unissued ordinary shares of Golden Rim under option at the date of this Directors’ 
Report are as follows: 
 

 600,000 unlisted Class E options, expiring on 5 October 2014 with an exercise price 
of 21 cents each; 

 7,000,000 unlisted Class F options issued to directors (directly and indirectly), 
expiring on 22 November 2014 with an exercise price of 27 cents each;  

 1,000,000 unlisted Class G options, expiring on 10 July 2015 with an exercise price of 
21 cents each; 

 15,000,000 unlisted Class H options issued to directors (directly and indirectly) 
expiring on 21 November 2015 with an exercise price of 29 cents each; 

 3,900,000 unlisted ESOP options, expiring on 21 November 2015 with an exercise 
price of 29 cents each; and 

 2,150,000 unlisted ESOP options, expiring on 12 January 2017 with an exercise price 
of 14 cents each. 

 50,000,000 unlisted Class I options with no vesting period, exercisable at 1.5 cents 
each on or before the expiry date of 30 June 2015. 

 16,366,667 unlisted Class J options with no vesting period, exercisable at 1.5 cents 
each on or before the expiry date of 20 February 2015. 

 
No person entitled to exercise any of the options has any right, by virtue of the options, to 
participate in any share issue of any other body corporate. 
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The names of all persons who currently hold options, granted at any time, are entered in 
the register kept by the Company pursuant to section 216C of the Corporations Act 2001 
and the register may be inspected free of charge. 
 

Proceedings on Behalf of the Company 
 
No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for 
leave to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to 
which the Company is a party, for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the 
Company for all or part of those proceedings. 
 
No proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf of the Company with leave of 
the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 

Environmental Regulation 
 
The consolidated entity has assessed whether there are any particular or significant 
environmental regulations which apply.  It has determined that the risk of non compliance is 
low, and has not identified any compliance breaches during the year. 
 

Auditor’s Independence 
 
A copy of the Auditor’s Independence Declaration, as required under section 307C of the 
Corporations Act 2001, is set out on page 38 of this Annual Report. 
 

Non Audit Services 
 
The Auditor has provided other non-audit services, including domestic and international 
taxation advice. 
 
The details of amounts paid or payable to the auditor for non-audit services provided during 
the year by the auditor are outlined in note 20 to the financial statements. The directors are 
satisfied that the provision of non-audit services during the year by the auditor is compatible 
with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 
2001. The directors are of the opinion that the services as disclosed in note 20 to the 
financial statements do not compromise the external auditor’s independence. 
 

Insurance of Directors and Officers 
 
During the reporting period, the Company paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring 
the Directors and the Company Secretary against a liability incurred to the extent permitted 
by the Corporations Act 2001. The contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature 
of the liability and the amount of the premium. The Company has not otherwise, during or 
since the end of the reporting period, except to the extent permitted by law, indemnified or 
agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of the Company or of any related body corporate 
against a liability incurred as such an officer or auditor. 
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Corporate Governance Statement 
 
 

Approach to Corporate Governance 
 
Golden Rim has established a corporate governance framework, the key features of which 
are set out in this statement.  In establishing its corporate governance framework, the 
Company has referred to ASX Corporate Governance Council Principles and 
Recommendations 2nd edition (Principles and Recommendations).  The Company has 
followed each recommendation where the Board has considered the recommendation to be 
an appropriate benchmark for its corporate governance practices.  Where the Company's 
corporate governance practices follow a recommendation, the Board has made appropriate 
statements reporting on the adoption of the recommendation.  In compliance with the "if not, 
why not" reporting regime, where, after due consideration, the Company's corporate 
governance practices do not follow a recommendation, the Board has explained it reasons 
for not following the recommendation and disclosed what, if any, alternative practices the 
Company has adopted instead of those in the recommendation. 
 
The following governance-related documents can be found on the Company's website at 
http://www.goldenrim.com.au, under the sections “About Us”, "Corporate Governance": 
 
Charters 
Board 
Audit Committee 
Nomination Committee 
Remuneration Committee 
 
Policies and Procedures 
Policy and Procedure for Selection and (Re) Appointment of Directors 
Process for Performance Evaluations 
Policy on Assessing the Independence of Directors 
Diversity Policy (summary) 
Code of Conduct (summary) 
Policy on Continuous Disclosure (summary) 
Compliance Procedures (summary) 
Procedure for the Selection, Appointment and Rotation of External Auditor 
Shareholder Communication Policy 
Risk Management Policy (summary) 
Policy for Trading in Company Securities 
Whistleblower Policy (summary) 
 
The Company reports below on whether it has followed each of the recommendations 
during the reporting period. The information in this statement is current at 10 September 
2014. 
 

Board 
 
(a) Recommendations 1.1, 1.3: Roles and responsibilities of the Board and Senior 

Executives 
 
The Company has established the functions reserved to the Board, and those delegated to 
senior executives and has set out these functions in its Board Charter, which is disclosed 
on the Company’s website.  
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The Board is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company through its 
key functions of overseeing the management of the Company, providing overall corporate 
governance of the Company, monitoring the financial performance of the Company, 
engaging appropriate management commensurate with the Company's structure and 
objectives, involvement in the development of corporate strategy and performance 
objectives, and reviewing, ratifying and monitoring systems of risk management and 
internal control, codes of conduct and legal compliance. 
 
Senior executives are responsible for supporting the Managing Director and assisting the 
Managing Director in implementing the running of the general operations and financial 
business of the Company in accordance with the delegated authority of the Board.  Senior 
executives are responsible for reporting all matters which fall within the Company's 
materiality thresholds at first instance to the Managing Director or, if the matter concerns 
the Managing Director, directly to the Chairman or the lead independent director, as 
appropriate. 
 
(b) Recommendation 2.6: Skills, experience, expertise and period of office of each 

Director 
 
A profile of each Director setting out their skills, experience, expertise and period of office is 
set out in the Directors' Report on page 16.  During the Reporting Period, the mix of skills 
and diversity for which the Board was looking to achieve in membership of the Board was 
represented by the Board’s composition during the Reporting Period.  The Board believed 
that its composition provided the diversity of skills and experience appropriate to the 
Company’s circumstances, which included: public company experience in the resources 
industry; legal; geological; accounting; engineering and investor relations.  On 1 July 2014, 
Mr Gilbert Rodgers who had accounting experience resigned from the Board, and on 18 
August 2014 Mr Pyle was appointed to the Board.  Mr Pyle has finance and resource 
industry experience.  The mix of skills and diversity for which the Board is looking to 
achieve in membership of the Board, whilst maintaining a Board of four members, is 
represented by the Board’s current composition.   
 
(c) Recommendations 2.1, 2.2, 2.3, 2.6: Director independence 
 
During the Reporting Period, the Board did not have a majority of directors who were 
independent.  As noted above, the Board believed and believes that its composition 
provides the diversity of skills and experience appropriate to the Company’s circumstances.   
The Company is conscious of costs and the preservation of funds during this difficult 
financial period, and wishes to maintain a Board of four members.  As one Board member 
is the Managing Director, and another is a nominee director of Aurora Minerals Limited (a 
substantial shareholder of the Company) the Board now comprises a majority of non-
independent directors.  The Board considers that its current structure is the most 
appropriate to add value to the Company, notwithstanding the lack of an independent 
majority of directors.  In accordance with Company policy, when Board nominations are 
made, the independence of the candidate is given consideration.  
 
The independence of directors is measured having regard to the relationships listed in Box 
2.1 of the Principles and Recommendations and the materiality threshold set by the Board 
in respect of its Policy on Assessing the Independence of Directors, as set out in the 
Company’s Board Charter.  The Board considers a relationship to be material if it impacted 
or impacts 10% or more on the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income in a 
financial year.   
 
The sole independent director of the Company during the reporting period was Glenister 
Lamont. Mr Lamont is independent as he is a non-executive director who is not a member 
of management and who is free of any business or other relationship that could materially 
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interfere with, or could reasonably be perceived to materially interfere with, the independent 
exercise of his judgment.  
 
Mr Crabb’s independence was reviewed during the reporting period and despite no longer 
being a substantial shareholder, as Mr Crabb has provided a loan to the Company, the 
Board determined that Mr Crabb continues to be a non independent director.  However, it is 
the Board’s opinion that Mr Crabb continues to consistently demonstrate a capability to 
make decisions and take actions that are in the best interests of the Company.   
 
The non-independent directors of the Company are Craig Mackay (Managing Director), 
Rick Crabb, Gilbert Rodgers (resigned 1 July 2014) and Nadir Alhammadi (resigned 16 
August 2013). 
 
The Company does not have an independent Chairman.  The Board continues to believe 
that Mr Crabb is the most appropriate person to chair the Board because of his extensive 
industry and public company director experience.  Mr Lamont has been appointed lead 
independent director to take the role of Chairman when Mr Crabb is unable to act as 
Chairman due to any conflict of interest.    
 
(d) Recommendation 2.6: Independent professional advice 
 
To assist directors with independent judgement, it is the Board's policy that if a director 
considers it necessary to obtain independent professional advice to properly discharge the 
responsibility of their office as a director then, provided the director first obtains approval 
from the Chairman for incurring such expense, the Company will pay the reasonable 
expenses associated with obtaining such advice. 
 
(e) Recommendation 2.6: Selection and (Re)Appointment of Directors  
 
In determining candidates for the Board, the Board follows a prescribed process whereby it 
evaluates the mix of skills, experience, expertise and diversity of the existing Board.  In 
particular, the Board identifies the particular skills and diversity that will best increase the 
Board's effectiveness.  Consideration is also given to the balance of independent directors.  
Potential candidates are identified.  Any appointment made by the Board is subject to 
ratification by shareholders at the next general meeting. 
 
The Board recognises that Board renewal is critical to performance and the impact of Board 
tenure on succession planning. An election of directors is held each year.  Each director 
other than the Managing Director, must not hold office (without re-election) past the third 
annual general meeting of the Company following the director's appointment or three years 
following that director's last election or appointment (whichever is the longer).  However, a 
director appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board must not hold 
office (without re-election) past the next annual general meeting of the Company.  At each 
annual general meeting a minimum of one director or one third of the total number of 
directors must resign.  A director who retires at an annual general meeting is eligible for re-
election at that meeting.  Re-appointment of directors is not automatic. 
 
The Company’s Policy and Procedure for the Selection and Re (Appointment) of Directors 
is disclosed on the Company’s website.   
 

Board Committees 
 
(f) Recommendations 2.4, 2.6: Nomination Committee  
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The Board has not established a separate Nomination Committee.  The Board considers 
that at this stage, no efficiencies or other benefits would be gained by established a 
separated Nomination Committee.  Items that are usually required to be discussed by a 
Nomination Committee are marked as separate agenda items at Board meetings, when 
required.  The Board deals with any conflicts of interest that may occur when convening in 
the capacity of Nomination Committee by ensuring the director with conflicting interests is 
not party to the relevant discussions.   
 
The full Board met as the Nomination Committee twice during the reporting period.  Details 
of director attendance at these meetings are set out in a table in the Directors’ Report on 
page 20.   
 
The Board has adopted a Nomination Committee Charter which describes the role, 
composition, functions and responsibilities of the full Board in its capacity as the Nomination 
Committee.   
 
The Company’s Nomination Committee Charter is disclosed on the Company’s website. 
 
(g) Recommendations 4.1, 4.2, 4.3, 4.4: Audit Committee  
 
The Board has established an Audit Committee. 
 
The Audit Committee is not structured in compliance with Recommendation 4.2 as it 
consists of only two members.  Given the composition of the Board, the formation of an 
Audit Committee in accordance with Recommendation 4.2 is not possible, however, the 
Audit Committee follows Recommendation 4.2 to the extent it is able.  The Audit Committee 
is comprised of the two non-executive directors, being Glenister Lamont (Chairman) and 
Rick Crabb.  The Chairman of the Audit Committee is not Chairman of the Board.  Mr 
Lamont is an independent director and as noted above, Mr Crabb is not independent. 
 
The Board has adopted an Audit Committee Charter which describes the role, composition, 
functions and responsibilities of the Audit Committee.  
 
The Audit Committee held two meetings during the reporting period.  Details of the 
directors’ attendance at Audit Committee meetings during the reporting period are set out in 
a table in the Directors’ Report on page 20. 
 
Both members of the Audit Committee consider themselves to be financially literate and 
have industry knowledge.  Both Glenister Lamont and Rick Crabb hold Masters of Business 
Administration and are therefore financially qualified.  Furthermore, the Executive Director 
(Finance), Gilbert Rodgers, is a Chartered Accountant and was available to attend Audit 
Committee meetings in order to assist the Audit Committee with financial matters, when 
required.  Further details of each of the director’s qualifications are set out in the Director’s 
Report on page 16.   
 
The Company has established a Procedure for the Selection, Appointment and Rotation of 
External Auditor. The Board is responsible for the initial appointment of the external auditor 
and the appointment of a new external auditor when any vacancy arises, as recommended 
by the Audit Committee. Candidates for the position of external auditor must demonstrate 
complete independence from the Company through the engagement period. The Board 
may otherwise select an external auditor based on criteria relevant to the Company's 
business and circumstances. The performance of the external auditor is reviewed on an 
annual basis by the Audit Committee and any recommendations are made to the Board.  
 
The Company’s Audit Committee Charter and Procedure for the Selection, Appointment 
and Rotation of External Auditor are disclosed on the Company’s website.  
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(h) Recommendations 8.1, 8.2, 8.3, 8.4: Remuneration Committee  
 
The Board has established a Remuneration Committee comprising the Board’s two non-
executive directors, being Rick Crabb (Chairman) and Glenister Lamont.  Mr Lamont is an 
independent director and as noted above, Mr Crabb is not independent.     
 
The Remuneration Committee is not structured in accordance with Recommendation 8.2.  
The Board considers that having the Board’s two non-executive directors comprise the 
Remuneration Committee is an appropriate structure for the committee. 
 
The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the reporting period.  Details of the 
directors’ attendance at the Remuneration Committee meeting are set out in a table in the 
Directors’ Report on page 20. 
 
The Board has adopted a Remuneration Committee Charter which describes the role, 
composition, functions and responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee. 
 
Details of remuneration, including the Company’s Remuneration Policy, are contained in 
the Remuneration Report which forms of part of the Directors’ Report and commences on 
page 32.  Non-executive directors are remunerated at a market rates for time, commitment 
and responsibilities. Remuneration for non-executive directors is not linked to individual 
performance.  From time to time the Company may grant options to non-executive 
directors.  The grant of options is designed to attract and retain suitably qualified non-
executive directors.   
 
Executive directors and senior executives receive base remuneration, which is market 
related.  Overall, remuneration to executives is subject to the direction of the Board and can 
be altered to reflect the competitive market and business conditions.  The Board’s reward 
policy is designed to retain appropriately qualified executive talent for the benefit of the 
Company.  Executives’ remuneration is reviewed by the Board having regard to various 
goals set.  This remuneration and other terms of employment are commensurate with those 
offered within the exploration and mining industry.  Long term performance incentives may 
include options granted at the discretion of the Board and may be subject to the successful 
competition of performance hurdles.    
 
There are no termination or retirement benefits for non-executive directors (other than for 
superannuation). 
 
The Company's Remuneration Committee Charter includes a statement of the Company's 
policy on prohibiting transactions in associated products which limit the risk of participating 
in unvested entitlements under any equity based remuneration schemes.  
 
The Company’s Remuneration Committee Charter is disclosed on the Company’s website.   
 

Performance Evaluation 
 
(i) Recommendations 1.2, 1.3: Senior executives  
 
The Board is responsible for evaluating the performance of the Managing Director.  Other 
senior executives are evaluated by the Managing Director or the Chairman.  The procedure 
for the evaluation of the Managing Director and other senior executives is determined 
annually.   
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During the reporting period an evaluation of senior executives took place. The evaluation 
was comprised of supervisor assessment and self-assessment in documented form 
followed by a meeting. The process is designed to identify strengthens and weaknesses in 
performance and to assist with ascertaining requirements and goals for the upcoming 
period. 
 
(j) Recommendations 2.5, 2.6: Board, its committees and individual directors  
 
The Chairman is responsible for evaluation of the Board, Board committees and individual 
directors. The evaluation is performed over a 3 year cycle. During the first year (Stage 1), 
each Director completes a questionnaire which is reviewed by the Chairman who then 
conducts interviews with each individual Director. The questionnaire is designed to evaluate 
the Board and its committees. The following year (Stage 2) the questionnaire is refined with 
reference to the previous year’s outcomes and is used to track progress. During the third 
year (Stage 3), a more comprehensive approach is implemented to address issues arising 
from previous questionnaires as well as addressing newly identified areas of focus and may 
involve contribution from external consultants. Individual director performance will also be 
evaluated during Stage 3. The actual procedure used for evaluation of the Board, Board 
committees and individual directors each year is disclosed in the Company’s annual report. 
 
During the reporting period, an evaluation of the Board, its committees and individual 
directors took place in accordance with the Stage 1 process disclosed above.  
 
The Company’s Process for Performance Evaluation is disclosed on the Company’s 
website.   
 

Ethical and Responsible Decision Making  
 
(k) Recommendations 3.1, 3.5: Code of Conduct  
 
The Company has established a Code of Conduct as to the practices necessary to maintain 
confidence in the Company's integrity, the practices necessary to take into account its legal 
obligations and the reasonable expectations of its stakeholders and the responsibility and 
accountability of individuals for reporting and investigating reports of unethical practices.  
 
The Board has also adopted a Whistleblower Policy. The aim of the Whistleblower Policy is 
to ensure that directors, officers and employees comply with the Company's Code of 
Conduct.  The policy encourages reporting of violations (or suspected violations) and 
provides effective protection to those reporting by implementing systems for confidentiality 
and report handling. 
 
A summary of the Company’s Code of Conduct and a summary of the Company’s 
Whistleblower Policy are disclosed on the Company’s website.   
 
(l) Recommendations 3.2, 3.3, 3.4, 3.5: Diversity  
 
The Company has established a Diversity Policy, which includes requirements for the 
Board to establish measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity and for the Board 
to assess annually both the objectives and progress towards achieving them. 
 
The following are the measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity set by the Board 
in accordance with the Diversity Policy, together with disclosure of the Company’s progress 
towards achieving the objectives:  
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 Mentoring: The Board encourages its directors to participate in external 
mentoring programs. Such programs should be aimed at achieving 
a greater representation of women on boards.  During the reporting 
period, Mr Crabb continued to participate in the Australia Institute 
of Company Directors Mentoring Programme. 

 Training / 
Succession 
Planning:   

The Board encourages and supports its female executives to 
undertake external studies. Such studies should be aimed at 
developing skills and experience relevant to senior positions within 
the Company.  During the reporting period, the Company continued 
to support a senior executive in her external studies through salary 
sacrifice, which study was completed during the reporting period.   

 HR Practices: The Board aspires to including at least one appropriately qualified 
female candidate for each executive position.  During the reporting 
period there were no new executive positions and therefore there 
was no opportunity to implement this practice.   

 
The proportion of women employees in the whole organisation, women in senior executive 
positions and women on the Board as at 30 June 2014 is set out in the following table: 
 
 Proportion of women 
 Whole organisation 8 out of 31 (26%) 
 Senior Executive positions 1 out of 3 (33%) 
 Board 0 out of 4 (0%) 
 

Continuous Disclosure  
 
(m) Recommendations 5.1, 5.2: Continuous Disclosure  
 
The Company has established written policies and procedures designed to ensure 
compliance with ASX Listing Rule disclosure requirements and accountability at a senior 
executive level for that compliance.  
 
A summary of the Company’s Policy on Continuous Disclosure and Compliance 
Procedures are disclosed on the Company’s website.   
 

Shareholder Communication  
 
(n) Recommendations 6.1, 6.2: Shareholder Communication  
 
The Company has designed a communications policy for promoting effective 
communication with shareholders and encouraging shareholder participation at general 
meetings. 
 
The Company’s Shareholder Communication Policy is disclosed on the Company’s 
website.   
 

Risk Management  
 
(o) Recommendations 7.1, 7.2, 7.3, 7.4: Risk Management 
 
The Company has adopted a risk management policy, a risk management framework and 
risk management procedures. Under the Company’s risk management framework, the 
Board oversees the processes by which risks are managed. This includes monitoring of its 
risk performance and those risks that may have a material impact to the business.   
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Management is responsible for the implementation of the risk management and internal 
control system and to report to the Board on the effectiveness of its management 
measures.   
 
Oversight of the Company’s risk management policy is provided by the Audit Committee. 
 
The Company’s risk management process is based on and consistent with the Australian 
and New Zealand Standard, AS/NZS4360:2004. This process includes the use of a risk 
register. Risks and their management are monitored and reviewed at least half yearly by 
management and the risk register is updated accordingly. 
 
The Company’s risk management framework is intended to provide guidance in relation to 
effective risk management practice including policy considerations, structure, 
accountabilities, monitoring and reporting requirements across all of the Company’s 
projects and operations. The framework is designed to seamlessly integrate risk 
management into strategic and business planning, entrenching the effective treatment of 
risk as part of the Company’s culture. This involves the following core elements: 
 

 the identification and assessment of risks and opportunities; 
 the management of those risks and opportunities so as to provide a reasonable 

level; 
 of expectancy that risk levels will not exceed approved limits; and 
 ongoing monitoring and communicating of risk associated with any activity, function 

or process. 
 
The Managing Director reports to the Board, from time to time, on the following categories 
or risks identified through the risk management process: 
 

 Sovereign risk 
 Compliance 
 Stakeholder relationships 
 Human capital 
 Market related 
 Occupational Safety and Health 
 Operational 
 Strategic 

 
The Board has required management to design, implement and maintain risk management 
and internal control systems to manage the Company's material business risks. The Board 
also requires management to report to it confirming that those risks are being managed 
effectively. The Board has received a report from management as to the effectiveness of 
the Company's management of its material business risks. 
 
The Managing Director and the Company Accountant have provided a declaration to the 
Board in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act and have assured the 
Board that such declaration is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal 
control and that the system is operating effectively in all material respects in relation to 
financial reporting risks. 
 
A summary of the Company’s Risk Management Policy is disclosed on the Company’s 
website.   
 



 
Golden Rim Resources Ltd 

 

 
Page | 30 

ASX Corporate Governance Council Recommendations Checklist 
 
The following table sets out the Company’s position with regard to adoption of the 
Principles and Recommendations as at the date of this statement: 
 
 
Recommendation Followed 

Principle 1: Lay solid foundations for management and oversight  

1.1 Companies should establish the functions reserved to the board and 
those delegated to senior executives and disclose those functions. 

 

1.2 Companies should disclose the process for evaluating the 
performance of senior executives. 

 

1.3 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 1. 

 

Principle 2: Structure the board to add value  

2.1 A majority of the board should be independent directors. x 

2.2 The chair should be an independent director. x 

2.3 The roles of chair and chief executive officer should not be exercised 
by the same individual. 

 

2.4 The board should establish a nomination committee. x 

2.5 Companies should disclose the process for evaluating the 
performance of the board, its committees and individual directors. 

 

2.6 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 2. 

 

Principle 3: Promote ethical and responsible decision-making  

3.1 Companies should establish a code of conduct and disclose the code 
or a summary of the code as to: 

 the practices necessary to maintain confidence in the company’s 
integrity; 

 the practices necessary to take into account their legal obligations 
and the reasonable expectations of their stakeholders; and  

 the responsibility and accountability of individuals for reporting and 
investigating reports of unethical practices. 

 

3.2 Companies should establish a policy concerning diversity and disclose 
the policy or a summary of that policy. The policy should include 
requirements for the board to establish measurable objectives for 
achieving gender diversity for the board to assess annually both the 
objectives and progress in achieving them. 

 

3.3 Companies should disclose in each annual report the measurable 
objectives for achieving gender diversity set by the board in 
accordance with the diversity policy and progress towards achieving 
them. 

 

3.4 Companies should disclose in each annual report the proportion of 
women employees in the whole organisation, women in senior 
executive positions and women on the board. 

 

3.5 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 3. 

 

Principle 4: Safeguard integrity in financial reporting  

4.1 The board should establish an audit committee.  

4.2 The audit committee should be structured so that it: consists only of 
non-executive directors; consists of a majority of independent 
directors; is chaired by an independent chair, who is not chair of the 
board; and has at least three members. 

x 

4.3 The audit committee should have a formal charter.  

4.4 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 4. 

 

Principle 5: Make timely and balanced disclosure  
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Recommendation Followed 

5.1 Companies should establish written policies designed to ensure 
compliance with ASX Listing Rule disclosure requirements and to 
ensure accountability at senior executive level for that compliance and 
disclose those policies or a summary of those policies. 

 

5.2 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 5. 

 

Principle 6: Respect the rights of shareholders  

6.1 Companies should design a communications policy for promoting 
effective communication with shareholders and encouraging their 
participation at general meetings and disclose their policy or a 
summary of the policy. 

 

6.2 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 6. 

 

Principle 7: Recognise and manage risk  

7.1 Companies should establish policies for the oversight and 
management of material business risks and disclose a summary of 
those policies. 

 

7.2 The board should require management to design and implement the 
risk management and internal control system to manage the 
company’s material business risks and report to it on whether those 
risks are being managed effectively. The board should disclose that 
management has reported to it as to the effectiveness of the 
company’s management of its material business risks. 

 

7.3 The board should disclose whether it has received assurance from the 
chief executive officer (or equivalent) and the chief financial officer (or 
equivalent) that the declaration provided in accordance with section 
295A of the Corporations Act is founded on a sound system of risk 
management and internal control and that the system is operating 
effectively in all material respects in relation to financial reporting risks. 

 

7.4 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 7. 

 

Principle 8: Remunerate fairly and responsibly  

8.1 The board should establish a remuneration committee.  

8.2 The remuneration committee should be structured so that it: consists 
of a majority of independent directors; is chaired by an independent 
chair; and has at least three members. 

x 

8.3 Companies should clearly distinguish the structure of non-executive 
directors’ remuneration from that of executive directors and senior 
executives. 

 

8.4 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 8. 
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Remuneration Report (Audited) 
 
This Remuneration Report which forms part of the Directors’ Report, sets out information 
about the remuneration of the directors and other senior management personnel of the 
Company. 
 

Names and Positions of Key Management Personnel 
 
Names and positions of key management personnel of the consolidated entity in office at 
any time during or since the end of the reporting period are as follows: 
 
Key Management Personnel Position 
R Crabb Chairman, Non Executive Director 
C Mackay Managing Director 
G Rodgers Executive Director (Finance) (resigned 1 July 2014) 
G Lamont Director, Non Executive 
N Alhammadi Director, Non Executive (resigned 16 August 2013) 
M Pyle Director, Non Executive (appointed 18 July 2014) 
H Butcher Company Secretary 

 

Compensation Practices 
 
Non executive directors’ fees include superannuation. The aggregate fees are fixed and 
approved by shareholders.  
 
The Company does not have a bonus or incentive option scheme for the directors. The 
Company has an Employee Share/Option Scheme, in which the directors may participate. 
To date, any options granted by the Board to executives, do not have associated specific 
performance hurdles. 
 
The Board also has a Remuneration Committee, details of which are contained in the 
Corporate Governance Statement.  
 

Remuneration Policy 
 
Emoluments of Directors and senior executives are set by reference to payments made by 
other companies of similar size and industry, and by reference to the skills and experience 
of the Directors and senior executives. Details of the nature and amount of emoluments of 
each Director of the Company are disclosed annually in the Company's annual report.  
 
Directors and senior executives are prohibited from entering into transactions or 
arrangements which limit the economic risk of participating in unvested entitlements. 
 
The Company's policy is to remunerate non-executive Directors at a fixed fee for time, 
commitment and responsibilities. Remuneration for non-executive Directors is not linked to 
the Company's or the individual's performance. From time to time the Company may grant 
options to non-executive Directors. The grant of options is designed to recognise and 
reward efforts as well as to provide non-executive Directors with additional incentive to 
continue those efforts for the benefit of the Company.  
 
The maximum aggregate amount of fees (including superannuation payments) that can be 
paid to non-executive Directors is subject to approval by shareholders at general meeting. 
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The Company's remuneration policy for executive directors and senior executives is 
designed to promote superior performance and long term commitment to the Company. 
 
Executives receive a base remuneration, which is market related. Overall, the remuneration 
policy is subject to the discretion of the Board and can be altered to reflect the competitive 
market and business conditions, where it is in the best interests of the Company and 
shareholders, to do so. 
 
The Board's reward policy is designed to retain appropriately qualified executive talent for 
the benefit of the Company. The main principles of the policy are: 
• reward reflects the competitive market in which the Company operates; 
• individual reward should be linked to performance criteria; and 
• executives should be rewarded for both financial and non-financial performance. 
 
Directors and senior executives remuneration is reviewed by the board of directors, having 
regarding to various goals set. This remuneration and other terms of employment are 
commensurate with those offered within the exploration and mining industry. 
 
Long term performance incentives may include options granted at the discretion of the 
Board and subject to the successful completion of performance hurdles. 
 
Executives are prohibited from entering into transactions or arrangements which limit the 
economic risk of participating in unvested entitlements. 
 

Relationship between Remuneration of Key Management Personnel and 
Shareholder Wealth 
 
During the Company’s new acquisition, exploration and development phases of its 
business, the Board anticipates that the Company will retain earnings (if any) and other 
cash resources for the exploration and development of its resource projects.  Accordingly 
the Company does not currently have a policy with respect to the payment of dividends and 
returns of capital. Therefore there was no relationship between the Board’s policy for 
determining, or in relation to, the nature and amount of remuneration of key management 
personnel and dividends paid and returns of capital by the Company during the current and 
previous four financial years. 
 
The Board does not determine, and in relation to, the nature and amount of remuneration of 
key management personnel by reference to changes in the price at which shares in the 
Company traded between the beginning and end of the current and the previous four 
financial years. The Company has not in the current and in the previous four financial years, 
made any discretionary cash bonuses to key management personnel. However, as noted 
below, a number of key management personnel have received options of the ordinary 
shares in the Company which generally will only be of value should the value of the 
Company’s shares increase sufficiently to warrant exercising the options. Options provide a 
means of ensuring remuneration offered to key management personnel is competitive with 
market standards and/or practice while maintaining the Company’s cash reserves. 
 

Key Management Personnel Compensation  
 
The total non-executive directors’ fees were reduced during the reporting period. Details of 
fees as at 30 June 2014 are set out below as well as details regarding the changes. Further 
reductions of non executive directors’ fees were made subsequent to year end. 
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Non-Executive 
Director 

Annual fee prior to 
reduction  

Date of reduction Annual fee as at 30 
June 2014  

Rick Crabb 
(Chairman) 

$55,000 including 
superannuation  

1 September 2013 $49,500 including 
superannuation 

Glenister Lamont $55,000 including 
superannuation  

1 September 2013 $49,500 including 
superannuation 

Nadir Alhammadi Nil NA Nil 

Martin Pyle NA (appointed after reporting period) 

 
Details of the remuneration of each director and key management personnel of Golden Rim, 
including their personally related entities are set out below. 
 
Table 1: Remuneration for financial year ended 30 June 2014 

Name 

Short Term 
Post 

Employment 
 
 

Termination 
Benefits 

$ 

Share 
Based 

% of 
remune
ration 

as 
options 

Total 
$ 

Salary & 
fees 

$ 

Non 
Monetary 
benefits 

$ 

Super-
annuation 

$ 

 
Options 

$ 

R Crabb 41,879 - 8,538 - - - 50,417 

C Mackay 266,391 - 17,775 - - - 284,166 

G Rodgers 189,583 - 35,000 - - - 224,583 

G Lamont 46,148 - 4,269 - - - 50,417 

N Alhammadi - - - - - - - 

H Butcher 128,350 3,149 11,658 - - - 143,157 

M Pyle
1
 - - - - - - - 

Total 672,351 3,149 77,240 - - - 752,740 
1. Appointed after 30 June 2014 

 
Table 2: Remuneration for financial year ended 30 June 2013 

Name 

Short Term 
Post 

Employment 
 
 

Termination 
Benefits 

$ 

Share 
Based 

% of 
remune
ration 

as 
options 

Total 
$ 

Salary & 
fees 

$ 

Non 
Monetary 
benefits 

$ 

Super-
annuation 

$ 

 
Options 

$ 

R Crabb 57,653 - 14,014 - -  71,667 

C Mackay 263,922 - 23,578 - 85,400 22.90 372,900 

G Rodgers 199,000 - 25,000 - 85,400 27.60 309,400 

G Lamont 50,459 - 4,541 - - - 55,000 

N Alhammadi 33,333 - - - - - 33,333 

P Olubas 163,358 - 19,412 95,897 - - 278,667 

H Butcher 127,523 9,534 11,477 - - - 148,534 

Total 895,248 9,534 98,022 95,897 170,800 13.45 1,269,501 

 
Details of options held by each director and key management personnel of Golden Rim as at 
30 June 2014 are set out below. 
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Table 3: Options of directors and key management personnel 

Key 
Management 
Personnel 

Number 
Granted 

Grant 
Date 

Value 
per 

Option 
at 

Grant 
Date 

$ 

Exercise 
price per 

option 
$ 

Vesting 
Date 

Vested 
% 

Expiry 
Date 

Number 
of 

Options 
Vested 

R Crabb 3,000,000 22/11/10 0.141 0.29 22/11/10 100 21/11/15 3,000,000 

C Mackay 3,500,000 23/11/09 0.113 0.27 23/11/10 100 22/11/14 3,500,000 

 5,000,000 22/11/10 0.141 0.29 22/11/10 100 21/11/15 5,000,000 

G Rodgers 3,500,000 23/11/09 0.113 0.27 23/11/10 100 22/11/14 3,500,000 

 4,000,000 22/11/10 0.141 0.29 22/11/10 100 21/11/15 4,000,000 

G Lamont 1,500,000 22/11/10 0.141 0.29 22/11/10 100 21/11/15 1,500,000 

N Alhammadi  1,500,000 22/11/10 0.141 0.29 22/11/10 100 21/11/15 1,500,000 

M Pyle - - - - - - - - 

H Butcher 600,000 06/10/09 0.134 0.21 06/10/10 100 05/10/14 600,000 

 1,500,000 22/11/10 0.122 0.29 22/11/10 100 21/11/15 1,500,000 

 500,000 13/01/12 0.0755 0.14 13/01/12 100 12/01/17 500,000 

 
Options are issued to key management personnel as part of their remuneration. The 
exercise price of the options is determined at the time of their issuance with consideration 
given to the Company’s underlying share price at the time of issue. The conversion price is 
usually higher than the price of the shares at the time.  
 
No options were granted during the year to key management personnel as part of their 
remuneration. 
 
Table 4: Lapsed options 
Name Value of options granted 

during the year 
$ 

Value of options 
exercised during the year 

$ 

Value of options lapsed 
during the year 

$ 

C Mackay - - 85,400 

G Rodgers - - 85,400 

 
Details of the shares held by each director and key management personnel of Golden Rim, 
including their personally related entities, are set out below. 
 
Table 5: Shares of directors and key management personnel for year ended 30 June 2014 
Name At start of year Received during the 

year on the exercise 
of options 

Other changes 
during the year 

At end of year 

R Crabb 31,785,208 - 2,941,176 34,726,384 
C Mackay 5,126,387 - 980,392 6,106,779 
G Rodgers 3,182,010 - 490,196 3,672,206 
G Lamont 387,855 - 490,196 878,051 
N Alhammadi - - - - 
H Butcher 2,263,889 - 2,941,176 5,205,065 
M Pyle - - - - 

Total 42,745,349 - 7,843,136 50,588,485 

 

Details of the options over ordinary shares in the Company held by each director and key 
management personnel of Golden Rim, including their personally related entities, are set out 
below. 
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Table 6: Options of directors and key management personnel for year ended 30 June 2014 
Name At start of 

year 
Granted 

during year 
as 

remuneration 

Exercised 
during  

year 

Expired 
during year 

At end of 
year 

Vested and 
exercisable 

at end of 
year 

R Crabb 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 3,000,000 
C Mackay 10,500,000 - - 2,000,000 8,500,000 8,500,000 
G Rodgers 9,500,000 - - 2,000,000 7,500,000 7,500,000 
G Lamont 1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 1,500,000 
N Alhammadi 1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 1,500,000 
H Butcher 2,600,000 - - - 2,600,000 2,600,000 
M Pyle - - - - - - 

Total 28,600,000 - - 4,000,000 24,600,000 24,600,000 

 

Service and Employment Agreements  
 
On appointment to the Board, non-executive directors enter into a service agreement with 
the Company in the form of a letter of appointment. The letter summarises Board policies 
and appointment terms, including compensation.  
 
Details of the employment agreements between the Company and other key management 
personnel, as at 30 June 2014, are set out below.  
 
Personnel Member Duration of contract Period of notice under 

the contract 
Termination provision 
under the contract

1
 

Craig Mackay No fixed term 6 months 6 months 

Gilbert Rodgers No fixed term 6 months 6 months 

Hayley Butcher No fixed term 2 months 2 months 

 
1. In addition, statutory entitlements of accrued leave and superannuation benefits form part of termination provisions. 

 

Other Transactions with Key Management Personnel 
 
During the reporting period, Mr Crabb advanced a short term loan of $50,000 to the 
Company on normal commercial terms and conditions on an arms’ length basis. This loan 
was repaid during the reporting period together with accrued interest of $247. This loan was 
unsecured and bore interest at the rate of 10% per annum 
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Signed 22 September 2014 for and on behalf of the Board in accordance with a resolution of 
the directors. 
 
 

 
Rick Crabb  
Chairman 
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22 September 2014 

 

 

Dear Board Members 

Golden Rim Resources Ltd 
 

In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, I am pleased to provide the following declaration 

of independence to the directors of Golden Rim Resources Ltd.  

 

As lead audit partner for the audit of the financial statements of Golden Rim Resources Ltd for the financial year 

ended 30 June 2014, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of: 

 

(i) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

(ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.   

 

 

 

 

Yours sincerely 

 

 

 

 

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 

 

 

 

Chris Nicoloff 
Partner  

Chartered Accountants 

 

The Board of Directors 

Golden Rim Resources Ltd 

Level 2, 10 Outram Street 

West Perth WA 6005 
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2014 

  Consolidated 
  2014 2013 
 Notes $ $ 
    
Interest income  9,857 31,345 
Other income  - 344 
Other gains and losses 4 137,289 (447,205) 
Corporate expenses  (51,874) (85,719) 
Office and administration expenses  (504,978) (749,355) 
Human resource expenses  (955,703) (1,359,463) 
Investor relations expenses  (251,665) (166,765) 
Interest expense  (47,594) (836) 
Borrowing expenses  (145,708) - 
Depreciation expense 11 (208,415) (251,661) 
Exploration expenditure written off 12 (2,894,227) (6,923,304) 
Share based payments 18 - (170,800) 
Foreign exchange gain/loss  (26,786) 35,962 
Share of loss of joint venture entity 9 (15,635) (113,533) 

Loss before income tax expense  (4,955,439) (10,200,990) 
Income tax expense 6 - - 

    

Loss for the year  (4,955,439) (10,200,990) 

    
Other comprehensive income 
Items that may be classified subsequently to profit or loss    
Foreign currency translation differences  (10,344) 179,129 
(Loss) / Gain on revaluation of investment  - (50,000) 
Reclassification adjustments relating to available for sale 
investments disposed of in the year  - (156,250) 

 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of income 
tax  (10,344) (27,121) 

 

Total comprehensive income for the year  (4,965,783) (10,228,111) 

    
Loss attributable to:    
   Owners of the Company  (4,950,184) (10,186,096) 
   Non-controlling interests 23(c) (5,255) (14,894) 

 
  (4,955,439) (10,200,990) 

    
Total comprehensive income attributable to:    
   Owners of the Company  (4,960,413) (10,211,988) 
   Non-controlling interests 23(c) (5,370) (16,123) 

 
  (4,965,783) (10,228,111) 

    

Earnings per share    
   Basic (cents per share) 25 (0.68) (2.10) 
   Diluted (cents per share) 25 (0.68)        (2.10) 

  
The above Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income should be 
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
As At 30 June 2014 
 Notes Consolidated 

  
2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 

Current Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 24(a) 1,357,582 500,222 
Trade and other receivables 7 136,961 41,807 
Other Assets 8 38,384 85,001 

    

Total Current Assets  1,532,927 627,030 

    

Non Current Assets    
Investment in joint venture entity 9 395,295 369,286 
Other financial assets 10 89,628 98,943 
Plant and equipment 11 542,870 817,841 
Exploration expenditure 12 1,520,006 686,636 

    

Total Non Current Assets  2,547,799 1,972,706 

    

Total Assets  4,080,726 2,599,736 

    

    

Current Liabilities    
Trade and other payables 13 363,142 369,602 
Borrowings 14 3,000,000 - 
Provisions 15 69,716 81,982 

    

Total Current Liabilities  3,432,858 451,584 

    

Non Current Liabilities    
Provisions 15 51,715 43,014 

 

Total Non-Current Liabilities  51,715 43,014 

    

Total Liabilities  3,484,573 494,598 

    

Net Assets  596,153 2,105,138 

    
    

Equity    
Parent Equity Interest    
  Share capital 16 58,658,576 55,201,778 
  Reserves 17 2,599,885 6,682,402 
  Accumulated losses  (60,112,779) (59,234,883) 

Equity attributable to owners of the Company  1,145,682 2,649,297 
Non-controlling interests 23(c) (549,529) (544,159) 

    

Total Equity  596,153 2,105,138 

 

The above Consolidated Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the 

accompanying notes.  



 

 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity  

For the Year ended 30 June 2014 
 

 Note 

Share 
Capital 

$ 

Accumulated 
Losses 

$ 

Goodwill on 
Acquisition 

Reserve 
$ 

Option 
Reserve 

$ 

Foreign 
Currency 
Reserve 

$ 

Asset 
Revaluation 

Reserve 
$  

Non- 
controlling 

Interests 
$ 

Total 
Equity 

$ 
          
Balance at 1 July 2012   46,806,168 (49,048,787) (870,599) 7,331,582 (79,739) 156,250 (528,036) 3,766,839 

          
Loss for the year  - (10,186,096) - - - - (14,894) (10,200,990) 
Other comprehensive income for the 
year  17 - - 

- 
- 180,358 

 
(206,250) (1,229) (27,121) 

Total comprehensive income for the 
year  - (10,186,096) 

- 
- 180,358 

 
(206,250) (16,123) (10,228,111) 

Transactions with owners recorded 
directly in equity    

 
  

 
  

Issue of shares 16 8,912,028 - - - - - - 8,912,028 
Transaction costs 16 (516,418) - - - - - - (516,418) 
Issue of options 17 - - - 170,800 - - - 170,800 

          

Balance at 30 June 2013  55,201,778 (59,234,883) (870,599) 7,502,382 100,619 
 

(50,000) (544,159) 2,105,138 

          
Loss for the year  - (4,950,184) - - - - (5,255) (4,955,439) 
Other comprehensive income for the 
year 17 - - 

 
- - (10,229) 

 
- (115) (10,344) 

Total comprehensive income for the 
year  - (4,950,184) 

 
- - (10,229) 

 
- 

 
(5,370) (4,965,783) 

Transaction with owners recorded 
directly in equity    

 
  

 
  

Issue of shares 16 3,626,000 - - - - - - 3,626,000 
Transaction costs 16 (169,202) - - - - - - (169,202) 
Fair value of expired options 17 - 4,072,288 - (4,072,288) - - - - 

          
Balance at 30 June 2014  58,658,576 (60,112,779) (870,599) 3,430,094 90,390 (50,000) (549,529) 596,153 
  

The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2014 
 
  Consolidated 

  2014 2013 

 Notes $ $ 

Cash Flow From Operating Activities    
Payments to suppliers and employees  (1,802,843) (2,404,958) 

Interest received  9,462 30,033 

Interest and borrowing costs paid  (235,960) (836) 

Other receipts  168,803 344 

    

Net Cash Outflows From Operating Activities 24(b) (1,860,538) (2,375,417) 

    

Cash Flows from Investing Activities    

Mining exploration expenditure  (3,760,720) (7,428,438) 

Proceeds from sale of rights to exploration interests  - 47,651 

Purchase of plant and equipment  (5,398) (377,355) 

Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment  57,203 45,111 

Proceeds from redemption or sale of investments  13,322 250,000 

Contribution provided to joint venture entity  (41,644) (307,000) 

    

Net Cash Outflows From Investing Activities  (3,737,237) (7,770,031) 

    

Cash Flows From Financing Activities    

Proceeds from issue of shares and options  3,626,000 8,912,028 

Share issue costs  (169,202) (516,418) 

Proceeds from borrowings  3,050,000 500,000 

Repayment of borrowings  (50,000) (500,000) 

    

Net Cash Inflows From Financing Activities  6,456,798 8,395,610 

    

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents held  859,023 (1,749,838) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial 
year  500,222 2,210,851 

Translation differences on cash held in foreign currencies  (1,663) 39,209 

    

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 
financial year 24(a) 1,357,582 500,222 

 
 
The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements  
For the Year Ended 30 June 2014 
 
1. Corporate Information 
 
Golden Rim is a listed public company incorporated in Australia. 
 
The nature of the operations and principal activity of Golden Rim is mineral exploration focused on the 
discovery of significant gold resources. 
 
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
(a) Statement of Compliance 
 
These financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in 
accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations, and 
comply with other requirements of the law. 
 
The financial statements comprise the consolidated financial statements of the Group. For the 
purposes of preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Company is a for-profit entity. 
Accounting Standards include Australian Accounting Standards. Compliance with Australian 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations ensures that the financial statements and notes also 
comply with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
The financial statements of Golden Rim for the year ended 30 June 2014 were authorised for issue in 
accordance with a resolution of the directors on 19 September 2014. 
 
(i) New and Amended Standards and Interpretations Adopted 
 
As disclosed in the 30 June 2013 financial report the Group elected to apply AASB 10 Consolidated 
Financial Statements, AASB 11 Joint Arrangements, AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other 
Entities, AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, AASB 127 Separate Financial 
Statements, AASB 2011-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the 
Consolidation and Joint  Arrangements Standards and AASB 2012-10 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards - Transition Guidance and other Amendments  from 1 July 2012. 
 
The Group has applied AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement and AASB 2011-8 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards arising from ASSB13 for the first time in the current year. AASB 13 
establishes a single source of guidance for fair value measurements and disclosures about fair value 
measurements.  
 
AASB 13 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability in an orderly transaction in the principal (or most advantageous) market at the measurement 
date under current market conditions.  Fair value under AASB 13 is an exit price regardless of 
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique.  Also, AASB 
13 includes extensive disclosure requirements. Other than the additional disclosures, the adoption of 
this standard does not have any material impact on the consolidated financial statements. 
 
As a result of AASB 2011-4 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards to Remove Key 
Management Personnel Disclosure Requirements’ the Group now only discloses key management 
personnel compensation in total and for each of the categories required in AASB124. The individual 
key management personnel disclosure previously required by AASB124 is now disclosed in the 
remuneration report due to an amendment to Corporations Regulations 2001 issued in June 2013. 
 
None of the other new standards and amendments to standards that are mandatory for the first time 
for the financial year beginning 1 July 2013 affected any of the amounts recognised in the reporting 
period or any prior period and are not likely to affect future periods. 
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(ii) Standards and Interpretations in issue not yet adopted 
 
At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, the following Standards and Interpretations 
were in issue but not yet effective. The potential effect of these standards and interpretations on the 
Group’s financial statements has not yet been determined. 
 

Standard / Interpretation Effective for annual 
reporting periods 
beginning on or after 

Expected to be 
initially applied in the 
financial year ending 

AASB 9 ‘Financial Instruments’, and the relevant 
amending standards 

1 January 2018 30 June 2019 

AASB 1031 ‘Materiality’ (2013) 1 January 2014 30 June 2015 

AASB 2012-3 ‘Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Offsetting Financial Assets 
and Financial Liabilities’ 

1 January 2014 30 June 2015 

AASB 2013-3 ‘Amendments to AASB 136 – 
Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial 
Assets’ 

1 January 2014 30 June 2015 
 

AASB 2013-4 ‘Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Novation of Derivatives 
and Continuation of Hedge Accounting’ 

1 January 2014 
 

30 June 2015  

AASB 2013-5 ‘Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Investment Entities’ 

1 January 2014 30 June 2015 
 

AASB 2013-9 ‘Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Conceptual Framework, 
Materiality and Financial Instruments’ 

1 January 2014 
 

30 June 2015  

INT 21 ‘Levies’ 1 January 2014 30 June 2015 

AASB 2014-1 ‘Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards’ 

- Part A: ‘Annual Improvements 2010–2012 
and 2011–2013 Cycles’  

- Part B: ‘Defined Benefit Plans: Employee 
Contributions (Amendments to AASB 119)’ 

- Part C: ‘Materiality’ 

1 July 2014 30 June 2015 

AASB 2014-1 ‘Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards’ – Part D: ‘Consequential 
Amendments arising from AASB 14’ 

1 January 2016 30 June 2017 

AASB 2014-1 ‘Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards’ – Part E: ‘Financial 
Instruments’ 

1 January 2015 30 June 2016 

AASB 14 ‘Regulatory Deferral Accounts’ 1 January 2016 30 June 2017 

AASB 2014-3 ‘Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Accounting for Acquisitions 
of Interests in Joint Operations 

1 January 2016 30 June 2017 

AASB 2014-4 ‘Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Clarification of Acceptable 
Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation’ 

1 January 2016 30 June 2017 

 
(b) Basis of Preparation 
 
The financial statements are prepared on an accruals basis and based on historical costs except for 
certain financial assets which have been measured at fair value.  Cost is based on the fair values of 
consideration given in exchange for assets. All amounts are presented in Australian dollars, unless 
otherwise noted. 
 
The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of 
this financial report.  The accounting policies have been consistently applied, unless otherwise stated.  
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(c) Going Concern 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis which 
contemplates continuity of normal business activities and the realisation of assets and discharge of 
liabilities in the normal course of business.   
 
During the reporting period, the Group incurred a net loss after tax of $4,955,439 (2013: $10,200,990) 
and incurred net cash outflows from operating and investing activities of $5.597,775 (2013: 
$10,145,445). At 30 June 2014 the Company has net assets of $596,153 (2013 - $2,105,138) and net 
current liabilities of $1,899,931 (2013: net current assets - $175,446). 
 
Current liabilities at 30 June 2014 include a secured convertible loan of $3,000,000 from Aurora 
Minerals Limited (Aurora). Under the loan agreement, repayment of the loan is by way of two 
tranches as follows: 
 
• The first tranche is repayable, subject to shareholder approval, by converting A$1.65 million 

of the loan into 206,250,000 ordinary fully paid shares in Golden Rim (at a deemed issue 
price of 0.8 cents per share).  

 
• The second tranche is repayable by either, Aurora electing to convert the balance of the loan 

amount (including accrued interest) into ordinary fully paid shares (subject to shareholder 
approval) by 22 March 2015, or by payment in cash on 2 May 2015.  

    
On 9 July 2014, having received shareholder approval, the first tranche of $1,650,000 was repaid 
through the issue of shares to Aurora. 
 
As detailed in note 30, the Company has signed a Finders Agreement with an affiliate of Sprott Inc. 
(Sprott). The agreement provides for the placement of a minimum of 230 million shares and up to 275 
million shares in the Company at an issue price of $0.011 per share. For every two shares issued, 
subscribers receive one attaching unlisted option with an exercise price of $0.0165 and expiring on 
the third anniversary of issuance. On 18 September 2014, the Company announced it had received 
commitments from investors to subscribe for at least 233,305,000 shares which will raise A$2,566,355 
(before costs). Currently these funds are being held in escrow. The raising remains subject to 
shareholder approval of the issuance of the shares and options under the Finders Agreement and 
also subject to shareholders approving the second tranche conversion under the Aurora loan 
agreement. A general meeting of shareholders to seek both approvals is scheduled to be held in late 
October 2014. 
 
In addition, the Company is actively seeking to raise further funds through: 
 

• divestment of non-core projects; and 
• strategic sale of interests in core projects. 

 
The ability of the Company and Group to continue as going concerns is principally dependent upon: 
 

(a) shareholder approval being obtained for, and Aurora electing to convert the second 
tranche into shares, ie., the $1,350,000 balance of the convertible loan amount plus 
outstanding interest; and 

(b) completion of the Sprott placement, including shareholder approval being obtained for the 
issue of shares and options under the Finders Agreement on or before 30 November 
2014. 

 
Given the Company’s and Group’s history of raising capital to date, the directors are confident of the 
Company’s ability to raise funds, as they are required. Consequently, based on the cash flow 
forecasts prepared by the directors and other factors referred to above, the directors are satisfied that 
the going concern basis of preparation is appropriate.  
 
Notwithstanding the above, should the directors not be successful in achieving the matters set out 
above, there is a material uncertainty whether the Company and the Group will continue as going 
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concerns and therefore, whether they will realise their assets and extinguish their liabilities in the 
normal course of business.  
 
The financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and 
classification of recorded asset amounts or to the amounts and classification of liabilities that might be 
necessary should the Company and Group not continue as going concerns.   
 
(d) Principles of Consolidation 
 
(i) Subsidiaries 
 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of the 
Company as at 30 June 2014 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended.  
 
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group 
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement 
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the 
entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. 
They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. 
 
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies 
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the 
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where 
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 
 
Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the 
consolidated income statement, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity 
and balance sheet respectively. 
 
(ii) Associates 
 
Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control or joint 
control, generally accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. 
Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting, after initially 
being recognised at cost.  
 
The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in profit or loss, 
and its share of post-acquisition other comprehensive income is recognised in other comprehensive 
income. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the 
investment. Dividends receivable from associates are recognised as reduction in the carrying amount 
of the investment. 
 
When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, 
including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, 
unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate. 
 
Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of 
the Group’s interest in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction 
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates are 
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.  
 
(iii) Joint arrangements 
 
Under AASB 11 ‘Joint Arrangements’, investments in joint arrangements are classified as either joint 
operations or joint ventures depending on the contractual rights and obligations each investor has, 
rather than the legal structure of the joint arrangement. Golden Rim has assessed the nature of its 
current joint arrangements and has determined that it is a joint venture. 
 
Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. Under this method, the interests 
are initially recognised in the consolidated balance sheet at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise 
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the Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and movements in other comprehensive income in 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income respectively. 
 
When the Group’s share of losses in a joint venture equals or exceeds its interests in the joint 
ventures (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net 
investment in the joint ventures), the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred 
obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint ventures. 
 
Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its joint ventures are eliminated to the 
extent of the Group’s interest in the joint ventures. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the 
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of the 
joint ventures have been changed where necessary, to ensure consistency with the policies adopted 
by the Group. 
 
(e) Business Combinations 
 
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, regardless of 
whether equity instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration transferred for the 
acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred 
and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred also includes the fair 
value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement and the fair value 
of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as 
incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. 
On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s 
net identifiable assets. 
 
The excess of the consideration transferred and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those 
amounts are less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the subsidiary acquired and the 
measurement of all amounts has been reviewed, the difference is recognised directly in profit or loss 
as a bargain purchase. 
 
Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are 
discounted to their present value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s 
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an 
independent financier under comparable terms and conditions. 
 
Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a 
financial liability are subsequently remeasured to fair value with changes in fair value recognised in 
profit or loss. 
 
(f) Exploration Expenditure 
 
Acquisition costs in relation to each separate area of interest are recognised as an exploration 
expenditure asset in the year in which they are incurred. These costs are only carried forward to the 
extent that they are expected to be recouped through the successful development of the area or 
where activities in the area have not yet reached a stage that permits reasonable assessment of the 
existence of economically recoverable reserves, otherwise costs are expensed. Subsequent 
exploration expenditure costs are written off immediately against the profit in the year. 
 
Accumulated costs in relation to an abandoned area are written off in full against profit in the year in 
which the decision to abandon the area is made. 
 
When production commences, the accumulated costs for the relevant area of interest are amortised 
over the life of the area according to the rate of depletion of the economically recoverable reserves. 
 
A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing 
to carry forward costs in relation to that area of interest. 
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(g) Plant and Equipment 
 
Each class of plant and equipment is carried at cost, less, where applicable, any accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. 
 
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of plant and equipment less their 
residual values over their useful lives, using either the straight line basis or diminishing value method, 
commencing from the time the assets are held ready for use. The depreciation rates used for plant 
and equipment vary between 2.5% and 40%. The estimated useful lives, residual values and 
depreciation methods are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes 
in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. 
 
The carrying values of plant and equipment are tested for impairment in accordance with the policy in 
note 2(m) when facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount may exceed its 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the expected net cash 
flows that will be received from an asset’s employment and subsequent disposal.  The expected net 
cash flows are discounted to their present values in determining recoverable amounts. An asset’s 
carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount, if the asset’s carrying value is 
greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 
 
An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Gains and losses on disposals, being the 
difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset are recognised in profit or 
loss. 
 
(h) Investments and Other Financial Assets 
 
Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets at fair value 
through profit and loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, and available-for-sale 
financial assets.  The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets. 
Management determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition and, in the case of 
assets classified as held-to-maturity, re-evaluates this designation at each reporting date.  
 
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade 
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require 
delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.  
 
(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading. A financial 
asset is classified in this category, if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term. 
Derivatives are classified as held for trading unless they are designated as hedges. Assets in this 
category are classified as current assets if they are expected to be settled within 12 months; 
otherwise they are classified as non-current. 
 
(ii) Loans and receivables 

 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 
are not quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets, except for those with 
maturities greater than 12 months after the reporting period which are classified as non-current 
assets. Loans and receivables are included in trade and other receivables (note 7) in the balance 
sheet. 
 
(iii) Held to maturity investments 
 
Held to maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets quoted in an active market with fixed 
or determinable payments and fixed maturities that the Group’s management has the positive 
intention and ability to hold to maturity. If the Group was to sell other than an insignificant amount of 
held-to maturity financial assets, the whole category would be tainted and reclassified as available-
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for-sale. Held-to-maturity financial assets are included in non-current assets, except for those with 
maturities less than 12 months from the end of the reporting period, which would be classified as 
current assets. 
 
(iv) Available for sale financial assets  
 
Available for sale financial assets, comprising principally marketable equity securities, are non-
derivatives that are either designated in this category or not classified in any of the other three 
categories. They are included in non-current assets unless the investment matures or management 
intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of the end of the reporting period. Investments 
are designated as available-for-sale if they do not have fixed maturities and fixed or determinable 
payments and management intends to hold them for the medium to long term. 
 
After initial recognition available-for-sale investments are measured at fair value with gains or losses 
being recognised as a separate component of equity until the investment is derecognised or until the 
investment is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported 
in equity is recognised  in profit or loss. 
 
The fair values of investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets are determined 
by reference to quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date.  For 
investments with no active market, fair values are determined using valuation techniques.  Such 
techniques include: using recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current market 
value of another instrument that is substantially the same; discounted cash flow analysis and option 
pricing models making as much use of available and supportable market data as possible and 
keeping judgmental inputs to a minimum. 
 
(i) Trade and Other Creditors 
 
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the consolidated entity prior to 
the end of the financial year and which are unpaid.  The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid 
within 30 days of recognition. 
 
(j) Earnings per Share 
 
(i) Basic earnings per share 
 
Basic earnings per share is determined by dividing net profit/loss after income tax attributable to 
members of the Company, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus 
elements in ordinary shares issued during the year. 
 
(ii) Diluted earnings per share 
 
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share 
by taking into account the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with 
dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been 
issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares. 
 
(k) Income Tax  
 
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. 
 
Current tax 
 
The tax currently payable is based on taxable income for the reporting period. Taxable income differs 
from profit as reported in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income because of items of 
income or expense that are assessable or deductible in other periods and items that are never 
assessable or deductible. 
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Deferred tax 
 
Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of 
taxable income. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. 
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent 
that it is probable that assessable income will be available against which those deductible temporary 
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary 
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of 
other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither taxable income nor accounting profit. 
 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments 
in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to 
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences 
associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that there will be sufficient assessable income against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary 
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future. 
 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient assessable income will be available to 
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the 
period in which the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. The measurement of 
deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in 
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount 
of its assets and liabilities. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same 
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. 
 
Current and deferred tax for the period 
 
Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the current and 
deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. 
Where current or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax 
effect is included in the accounting for the business combination. 
 
(l) Foreign Currency Translation 
 
(i) Functional and presentation currency 

 
The functional currency of each of the Group’s entities is measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which that entity operates.  The consolidated financial statements are 
presented in Australian dollars which is the parent entity’s functional and presentation currency. 
 
The functional currency of the subsidiaries, Golden Rim SAR Exploration SARL; Golden Rim Mali SA; 
Golden Rim Resources Burkina SARL; Talpha Burkina SARL and Golden Rim Resources Cote 
d’Ivoire, is CFA Franc. 
 
(ii)  Transaction and balances 
 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the date of the transaction.  Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the year 
end exchange rate.  Non monetary items measured at historical costs continue to be carried at the 
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exchange rate at the date of the transaction.  Non monetary items measured at fair value are reported 
at the exchange rate at the date when fair values were determined. 
 
(iii)  Group Companies 
 
The financial results and position of foreign operations whose functional currency is different from the 
Group’s presentation currency are translated as follows: 
 

 Assets and liabilities are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date. 

 Income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for the reporting period. 

 Equity transactions are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transaction. 
 
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations are recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in the Group’s foreign currency translation reserve.  These 
differences are recognised in the income statement in the period in which the operation is disposed. 
 
(m) Impairment of Assets 
 
At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether 
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss.  If any such indication 
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the 
impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual 
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset 
belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are 
also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise allocated to the smallest group of 
cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified. 
 
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value 
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. 
 
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its 
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its 
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the 
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case, the impairment loss is treated as a 
revaluation decrease. 
 
When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-
generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the 
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined 
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A 
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is 
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a 
revaluation increase. 
 
(n)  Revenue 
 
Interest 
 
Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will 
flow to the Group and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on 
a time basis by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, 
which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the 
financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition. 
Government grants 
 
Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply 
with the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received. 
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Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or 
for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are 
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable. 
 
Asset Sales 
 
Revenue from the sale of assets is recognised at the date that the contract is entered into and all 
conditions are met. 
 
All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST). 
 
(o)  Employee Benefits 
 
Provision is made for the Group’s liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by 
employees to balance date.  Employee benefits that are expected to be settled within one year have 
been measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled, plus related on costs.  
Employee benefits payable later than one year have been measured at the present value of the 
estimated future cash outflows to be made for those benefits. 
 
(p)  Share Based Payment Transactions 
 
Equity-settled share-based payments to directors, employees and others providing similar services 
are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date. Details regarding the 
determination of the fair value of equity-settled share-based transactions are set out in note 18. 
 
The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed 
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments 
that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity. At the end of each reporting period, 
the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest. The impact of the 
revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative 
expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the equity-settled employee 
benefits reserve. 
 
(q)   Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past 
events, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be 
reliably measured. 
 
(r)  Goods and Services Tax (GST) 
 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount 
of GST is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office.  In these circumstances the GST is 
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense.  
Receivables and payables in the statement of financial position are shown inclusive of GST. 
 
Cash flows are presented in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis, except for the GST 
component of investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows. 
 
(s)  Comparative Figures 
 
When required by the Standards, comparative figures are adjusted to conform to changes in 
presentation for the current financial year. 
 
3.  Significant Accounting Judgements, Estimates and Assumptions 
 
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the Group and 
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
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In applying the Group’s accounting policies management continually evaluates judgments, estimates 
and assumptions based on experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that 
may have an impact on the Group.  All judgments, estimates and assumptions made are believed to 
be reasonable based on the most current set of circumstances available to management.  Actual 
results may differ from judgments, estimates and assumptions.  Significant judgments, estimates and 
assumptions made by management in the preparation of these financial statements are outlined 
below: 
 
(a) Significant accounting judgments 
 
(i) Impairment of non financial assets 
The Group assesses impairment of all assets at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific 
to the Group and to the particular asset that may lead to impairment.  These include prospectivity of 
an area of interest and economic and political environments.  If an impairment trigger exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is determined.  This involves value in use calculations, which 
incorporate a number of key estimates and assumptions. 
 
The Group's accounting policy is stated at note 2(m). There is some subjectivity involved in the 
carrying forward as capitalised or writing off to the income statement exploration and evaluation 
expenditure, however management give due consideration to areas of interest on a regular basis and 
are confident that decisions to either write off or carry forward such expenditure reflect fairly the 
prevailing situation. 
 
(b) Significant accounting estimates and assumptions 
 
(i) Accounting for share based payments 
The Group's accounting policy is stated at note 2(p).  The value of these option payments are based 
on reasonable estimates using a recognised option pricing model. 
 
The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair 
value of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted.  The fair value is determined by 
an external valuer using a Trinomial or Black Scholes option pricing model, with the assumptions 
detailed in note 18.  The accounting estimates and assumptions relating to equity-settled transactions 
would have no impact on the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next annual 
reporting period but may impact expenses and equity. 
 
(ii) Allowance for impairment loss on receivables and inter-company loans 
Where receivables are outstanding beyond the normal trading terms, the likelihood of the recovery of 
these receivables is assessed by management.  A provision has been raised for all inter-company 
receivables, in the separate accounts of the parent. 
 
(iii)  Classification of joint arrangements  
The Group’s joint venture is structured as a partnership. Golden Rim holds 35% of the interest in the 
partnership and under the joint venture agreements unanimous consent is required from all parties to 
the agreements for all relevant activities. The Group and the parties to the agreements only have 
rights to the net assets of the partnership under the arrangements. This entity is therefore classified 
as a joint venture of the Group.  
 
4. Other Gains and Losses 
 
 Consolidated 
 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 
Gain on sale of rights to exploration interests - 147,651 
Loss on sale of plant and equipment (31,514) (1,106) 
Loss on sale of available for sale investments - (593,750) 
Government grant – R&D tax incentive 168,803 - 

 137,289 (447,205) 
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5. Expenses  
 
 Consolidated 
 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 
The loss before income tax includes the following 
specific expenses:   
   
Depreciation 208,415 251,661 
Directors’ fees 100,833 160,000 
Employee benefits expenses   
  Defined contribution superannuation expense 77,744 100,993 
  Share based payments - 170,800 
  Other employee benefit expenses 937,030 1,334,929 
Exploration expenditure written off 2,894,227 6,923,304 
Interest expenses 47,594 836 
 
6. Income Tax 
 
 Consolidated 
 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 
Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to 
prima facie tax payable:    
   
Loss before income tax expense (4,955,439) (10,200,990) 

   
Income tax benefit calculated at 30% (2013: 30%) (1,486,632) (3,060,297) 
   
Effect of amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) 
in calculating taxable income   

Share based payments - 51,240 
Share issue costs (50,761) - 
R&D costs less tax incentive 61,894 - 
Other expenses 899 1,095 

 (1,474,600) (3,007,962) 
Movement in temporary differences not recognised 519,793 (51,976) 
Effect of current year tax losses for which no 
deferred tax asset has been recognised 954,807 3,059,938 

Income tax expense - - 

   
Unrecognised temporary differences   
   
Deferred Tax Asset (30%)   

Loans (provisions) 1,112,891 19,139 
Prepayments 5,996 2,906 
Investments (provisions) 90,302 90,302 
Capital raising costs 255,666 296,603 
Foreign exchange loss 34,846 30,631 
Borrowing expenses 38,580 - 
Legal fees 8,043 21,736 
Accruals 25,546 11,688 
Plant and equipment 36,430 7,960 
Provisions 7,308 37,499 
Carry forward tax losses 16,342,187 15,387,380 

 17,957,795 15,905,844 

 
No income tax is payable by the Company.  The consolidated entity has un-recouped Australian 
income tax losses comprising revenue losses of approximately $23.6 million (2013 - $21.5 million), 
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foreign losses of approximately $28.5 million (2013 - $27.1 million) and capital losses of approximately 
$2.3 million (2013 - $2.3 million).  
 
Such benefits have not been recognised and will only be obtained if: 
 
(a) the consolidated entity derives future assessable income of a nature and an amount sufficient 

to enable the benefit from the deductions for the loss to be realised; 
(b) the losses are transferred to an eligible entity in the consolidated entity; 
(c) the consolidated entity continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by tax 

legislation; and 
(d) no changes in taxation legislation adversely affect the economic entity in realising the benefit 

from the deductions for the losses. 
 
7. Trade and Other Receivables 
 Consolidated 
 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 
Current    
GST refundable 31,906 19,513 
Other receivables 105,055 22,294 

 136,961 41,807 

 
The amounts within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past 
overdue. 
 
8. Other Assets 
 Consolidated 
 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 
Current    
Bank guarantee - 12,744 
Cash advances 6,372 8,752 
Prepayments 32,012 63,505 

 38,384 85,001 

 
9. Investment in Joint Venture Entity 
 
Details of each of the Group's material associates and joint ventures at the end of the reporting period 
are detailed below. The entity listed below is engaged in the exploration for minerals and has share 
capital consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are held directly by the Group.  
 
Name of entity Place of business/ 

country of 
incorporation 

Ownership interest/ 
Voting rights held by 
the group 

Nature of 
relationship 

Measurement 
method 

       2014 2013   

Royal Falcon Mining 
LLC Joint Venture Abu Dhabi 35% 35% Joint Venture Equity method 

 

(a) Summarised financial information for associates and joint ventures 
 
Summarised financial information for those joint ventures and associates that are material to the 
Group is set out below. The information disclosed represents amounts presented in the financial 
statements of the relevant associates and joint ventures prepared in accordance with AASBs 
(adjusted by the Group for equity accounting purposes).  
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 Royal Falcon Mining LLC 
Joint Venture 

Summarised Financial position 2014 2013 
 $ $ 
Current assets   
Cash and cash equivalents 512 452 
Trade and other receivables 118,408 118,392 
   

Total assets 118,920 118,844 

   
Current liabilities   
Trade and other payables 12,107 9,004 
   
Non-Current Liabilities   
Loans from shareholders 5,508,844 5,467,201 
   

Total liabilities 5,520,951 5,476,205 

   
Net assets (5,402,031) (5,357,361) 

   
Reconciliation to carrying amounts:   
Opening net assets  (5,357,361) (5,032,980) 
Loss for the period (44,670) (324,381) 

Closing net assets (5,402,031) (5,357,361) 

   
Group’s share of net assets (35%) (1,890,711) (1,875,076) 
Golden Rim shareholder loan 2,286,006 2,244,362 

Carrying amount 395,295 369,286 

 
Summarised Financial Performance 

  

   
Office and administration expenses (263) (4,462) 
Depreciation expense - (3,352) 
Exploration expenditure written off (44,407) (316,418) 
Foreign exchange loss - (149) 

Loss for the year (44,670) (324,381) 

Group’s share of loss (35%) (15,635) (113,533) 

 
  
(b) Commitments and contingent liabilities in respect of associates and joint ventures 
 
On 7 April 2009, the joint venture company, Royal Falcon, executed a Farmin and Joint Venture 
Heads of Agreement with Drake Resources Limited (Drake) (BJV).  
 
Under the terms of the BJV, Royal Falcon has the right to earn a 51% interest in the Falun and 
Bersbo licences by spending USD3 million within three years. Royal Falcon then has the right to 
spend a further USD3 million to increase its interest to 75%.  
 
Currently Royal Falcon has earned a 51% interest and has elected to remain at a 51% interest in the 
BJV. 
 
The total amount spent by Royal Falcon under the BJV, as at 30 June 2014, is USD3,642,688 (2013: 
USD3,605,417). 
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10. Other Financial Assets 
 Consolidated 
 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 
Non Current    
Available for sale investments at fair value – listed 
security  50,000 50,000 
Bonds – rental 39,628 48,943 

 89,628 98,943 

 
11. Plant and Equipment 
 Consolidated 
 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 
Office equipment, at cost 409,272 452,629 
Less: accumulated depreciation (311,944) (298,482) 

 97,328 154,147 

Motor vehicles, at cost 314,663 444,069 
Less: accumulated depreciation (221,080) (230,935) 

 93,583 213,134 

Field equipment, at cost 562,436 592,362 
Less: accumulated depreciation (210,477) (141,802) 

 351,959 450,560 

 542,870 817,841 

 
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of each class of plant and equipment at the beginning and 
end of the reporting period are set out below. 
 
 Office 

Equipment 
Motor 

Vehicles 
Field 

Equipment 
Total 

 
 $ $ $ $ 
Carrying amount at 1 July 2012 175,636 289,955 185,883 651,474 
Additions 44,858 34,900 297,597 377,355 

Disposals (6,573) (31,596) (8,048) (46,217) 
Depreciation (64,909) (111,236) (75,516) (251,661) 
Foreign exchange movement 5,135 31,111 50,644 86,890 

Carrying amount at 30 June 2013 154,147 213,134 450,560 817,841 
     
Additions 1,165 - 4,232 5,397 
Disposals (13,984) (43,229) (31,504) (88,717) 
Depreciation (44,894) (83,286) (80,235) (208,415) 
Foreign exchange movement 894 6,964 8,906 16,764 

Carrying amount at 30 June 2014 97,328 93,583 351,959 542,870 

 
12. Mining Exploration Expenditure 
 Consolidated 
 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 
Acquisition costs brought forward 686,636 - 
Expenditure incurred during the year   
   Acquisition costs 875,982 751,114 
   Exploration and evaluation costs 2,864,317 6,794,238 
Foreign exchange movement (12,702) 64,588 
Expenditure written off during the year (2,894,227) (6,923,304) 

Acquisition costs carried forward 1,520,006 686,636 

 
The ultimate recoupment of acquisition costs carried forward is dependent upon successful 
development and commercial exploitation, sale or farm out of the respective areas. The carrying 
values are based upon the Group’s assumption that the exploration licences will be renewed when 
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required, subject to the Group meeting agreed budgets and work programs. No impairment indicators 
have been identified by management and the exploration program continues on each area of interest.  
 
13. Trade and Other Payables 
 Consolidated 
 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 
Trade creditors 252,277 298,971 
Interest payable 47,341 - 
Accrued expenses  37,811 38,959 
Other creditors 25,713 31,672 

 363,142 369,602 

 
14. Borrowings 
 Consolidated 
 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 
Current   
Aurora Minerals Limited secured loan 3,000,000 - 

 
On 2 May 2014, the Company entered into a A$3 million agreement for funding through a secured 
convertible loan from Aurora Minerals Limited (Aurora).  The loan is secured by a share mortgage 
over all of the shares the Company holds in Golden Rim Resources Burkina SARL. Funds borrowed 
were for the Company’s exploration work at the Balogo and Korongou projects and working capital. 
The loan was drawn down on 13 May 2014. 
 
Under the agreement, repayment of the loan is by way of two tranches as follows: 
 
• Subject to shareholder approval, the first tranche is repayable by converting A$1.65 million of 

the loan into 206,250,000 ordinary fully paid shares in Golden Rim (at a deemed issue price 
of 0.8 cents per share) (First Tranche Shares). Subject to conditions, the First Tranche 
Shares will be held in escrow for a period not exceeding 6 months following issue. 
Shareholder approval for the issue of the First Tranche Shares was received on 8 July 2014.  

 
• The second tranche is repayable by either, Aurora electing to convert the balance of the loan 

amount (including accrued interest) into ordinary fully paid shares (subject to shareholder 
approval), or by payment of cash.  Each of the shares issued in repayment of the second 
tranche will be issued at a deemed issue price equal to a 20% discount to the 20 day volume 
weighted average price of shares on ASX on the 20 trading days immediately prior to the date 
of notice of election given by Aurora, if applicable. The second tranche election to convert the 
loan into shares can be made any time after 6 months following drawdown and up until 
approximately 11 months after of execution of the loan agreement. Otherwise, the term of the 
loan is for 12 months except in the event that the Company makes an early repayment.  

 
Early repayment may only be made with the consent of Aurora (in its discretion) if the Company sells, 
transfers or assigns any asset located in Burkina Faso for a cash amount of $1,500,000 or more and 
Aurora then elects to apply up to a maximum 50% of the value of the sale proceeds to the outstanding 
part of the loan.  
 
Aurora received a structuring fee equal to 6% of the loan amount.  Half of this structuring fee was 
refunded following shareholder approval for the issue of the First Tranche Shares. 
 
Interest on the loan is payable at a rate of 12% per annum which was reduced to 10% per annum 
following shareholder approval for the issue of the First Tranche Shares. 
 
Throughout the term of the loan, Aurora has first right to match any third party capital raising offer to 
the maximum value of the outstanding monies (or such other maximum value the parties agree in 
writing) and offset that raising to the extent of the then outstanding loan amount. Aurora also has first 
right of refusal on capital raisings. In the event the Company proposes to undertake a rights issue, 
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Aurora may underwrite and offset that underwritten amount to the extent of the then outstanding loan 
amount. 
 
15. Provisions  
 Consolidated 
 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 
Current   
Employee entitlements – annual leave 69,716 81,982 

   
Non Current   
Employee entitlements – long service leave 51,715 43,014 

 
16. Issued Capital 
 Consolidated 
 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 
Issued Capital   
Fully paid shares 827,106,887 
(2013: 568,006,923) 58,658,576 55,201,778 

 
Movements in ordinary share capital of the Company during the past 2 years were as follows:   
 
  Number of Shares Cents $ 
     
01/07/2012 Opening Balance 413,306,231  46,806,168 
02/08/2012 Placement 25,400,000 10.0 2,540,000 
30/08/2012 Share purchase plan 20,000,000 10.0 2,000,000 
22/02/2013 Placement 52,500,000 4.0 2,100,000 
05/04/2013 Rights issue 56,800,692 4.0 2,272,028 
 Cost of share issues   (516,418) 

30/06/2013  568,006,923  55,201,778 
05/08/2013 Placement 85,000,000 2.2 1,870,000 
26/11/2013 Share purchase plan 74,999,964 1.02 765,000 
31/12/2013 Placement 50,000,000 1.0 500,000 
24/02/2014 
 

Placement 
Cost of share issues 

49,100,000 
 

1.0 
 

491,000 
(169,202) 

30/06/2014  827,106,887  58,658,576 

 
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the 
Company in proportion to the number of, and amounts paid, on the shares held.  On a show of hands 
every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote, and 
upon a poll each share is entitled to one vote. 
 
17. Reserves 
  Consolidated 
 2014 2013 
 $ $ 
Options Reserve (a) 3,430,094 7,502,382 
Goodwill on Acquisition Reserve (b) (870,599) (870,599) 
Foreign Currency Translation Reserve (c) 90,390 100,619 
Asset  Revaluation Reserve (d) (50,000) (50,000) 

 2,599,885 6,682,402 
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(a)  Option Reserve 
 
At 30 June 2014, the Company had the following options on issue: 
 

 600,000 unlisted Class E Options with a vesting period of 12 months from 6 October 2010, 
exercisable at 21 cents each on or before the expiry date of 5 October 2014. 

 7,000,000 unlisted Class F Options with a vesting period of 12 months from 23 November 2010, 
exercisable at 27 cents each on or before the expiry date of 22 November 2014. 

 1,000,000 unlisted Class G Options with no vesting period, exercisable at 21 cents each on or 
before the expiry date of 10 July 2015. 

 15,000,000 unlisted Class H Options with no vesting period, exercisable at 29 cents each on or 
before the expiry date of 21 November 2015. 

 3,900,000 unlisted ESOP Options with no vesting period, exercisable at 29 cents each on or 
before the expiry date of 21 November 2015. 

 2,150,000 unlisted ESOP Options with no vesting period, exercisable at 14 cents each on or 
before the expiry date of 12 January 2017. 

 50,000,000 unlisted Class I options with no vesting period, exercisable at 1.5 cents each on or 
before the expiry date of 30 June 2015. 

 16,366,667 unlisted Class J options with no vesting period, exercisable at 1.5 cents each on or 
before the expiry date of 20 February 2015. 

 
Movements in the number of options and the Option Reserve in the past two years were as follows: 

 
  Number of 

Options 
Fair value   

cents 
$ 

01/07/2012 Opening balance 29,950,000  7,331,582 
08/11/2012 Options issued – ESOP 4,000,000 4.27 170,800 
27/06/2013 Options expired – ESOP (300,000)  - 

30/06/2013  33,650,000  7,502,382 
31/12/2013 Options issued – Class I 50,000,000  - 
21/02/2014 Options issued – Class J 16,366,667  - 
07/05/2014 Options expired – ESOP (4,000,000)  - 
30/06/2014 Fair value of expired options 

transferred to accumulated loss   (4,072,288) 

  96,016,667  3,430,094 

     
The option reserve relates to the fair value of options granted by the Company.  
 
No fair value has been attributed to the free attaching Class I and Class J options which were issued 
pursuant to the placement of 50 million and 49.1 million fully paid ordinary shares in the Company 
respectively as the issue price of the shares represented their fair market value. 
 
(b)  Goodwill on Acquisition Reserve 
 

 Consolidated 
 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 

Goodwill on acquisition arising from the increase in 
shareholding in Golden Rim SAR Exploration SARL (870,599) (870,599) 

 
(c) Foreign Currency Translation Reserve 
 
 Consolidated 
 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 
At beginning of year 100,619 (79,739) 
Foreign currency (loss) / gain for year (10,229) 180,358 

 90,390 100,619 
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Exchange differences relating to the translation of the results and net assets of the Group’s foreign 
operations from their functional currencies to Australian dollars are recognised directly in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve. Exchange 
differences previously accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve are reclassified to profit 
or loss on the disposal of the foreign operation. 

 
(d)  Asset Revaluation Reserve 
 
 Consolidated 
 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 
At beginning of year (50,000) 156,250 
Loss on revaluation of available for sale investments                                                                   - (50,000) 
Gain reclassified to profit or loss on sale of available 
for sale investments - (156,250) 

 (50,000) (50,000) 

 
The asset revaluation reserve represents the cumulative gains and losses arising on the revaluation 
of available-for-sale financial assets that have been recognised in other comprehensive income, net 
of amounts reclassified to profit or loss when those assets have been disposed of or are determined 
to be impaired. 
 
18. Share Based Payments  
 
The Golden Rim Resources Limited Employee Share Option Plan (“ESOP”), first approved by 
shareholders at the Company’s annual general meeting on 22 November 2010, is designed to provide 
incentives to the employees and directors of the Company and to recognise their contribution to the 
Company's success.  The directors consider that the incentives provided by a grant of options are a 
cost effective and efficient means for the Company to provide incentives as opposed to alternative 
forms of incentives such as cash bonuses or increased remuneration.  
 
Each employee share option converts into one ordinary share in the Company on exercise. Unless the 
Board determines otherwise, no amounts are paid or payable by the recipient on receipt of the option. 
The options carry neither rights to dividends nor voting rights. The options may be exercised at any 
time from the date of vesting to the date of their expiry. 
 
The options granted under the ESOP are offered to employees and directors on the basis of the 
Board’s view of the contribution of the person to the company. 
 
In terms of ASX Listing Rules, securities issued under an employee incentive scheme which has been 
approved by shareholders within three years of the date of issue, are issued as an exception to a 
company’s 15% placement capacity under the rules. The ESOP was again approved by shareholders 
at the annual general meeting on 22 November 2013. 
 
Prior to the ESOP being first approved, the Company issued share options to directors, employees 
and consultants either under the 15% placement capacity or with the prior approval of shareholders. 
 
The following share based payment arrangements were in existence during the current and prior 
reporting periods: 
 
Option series Grant date Grant date fair 

value (cents) 
Exercise price 

(cents) 
Expiry date Number of 

options 
Class E 06/10/2009 13.39 21.00 5/10/2014 600,000 
Class F 23/11/2009 11.29 27.00 22/11/2014 7,000,000 
Class G 22/11/2010 14.40 21.00 10/07/2015 1,000,000 
Class H 22/11/2010 14.10 29.00 21/11/2015 15,000,000 
ESOP 22/11/2010 12.20 29.00 21/11/2015 3,900,000 
ESOP 13/01/2012 7.55 14.00 12/01/2017 2,150,000 
ESOP 08/11/2012 4.27 15.00 07/05/2014 4,000,000 
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All share options were fully vested on the grant date and there has been no alteration to the terms and 
conditions of the above share based payment arrangements since the grant date. 
 
Movement, in the current and prior year, in the number and weighted average exercise price (WAEP) 
of share options issued as share based payments were as follows: 
 
 2014 2013 
 Number WAEP Cents Number WAEP Cents 

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 33,650,000 25.58 29,950,000 26.88 
Granted during the year - - 4,000,000 15.00 
Expired during the year (4,000,000) (15.00) (300,000) (14.00) 

Outstanding at the end of the year 29,650,000 27.01 33,650,000 25.58 

 
The weighted average remaining contractual life of outstanding options issued as share based 
payments as at 30 June 2014 is 1.21 years (2013: 2.05 years). 
 
During the previous year, the Company granted 4,000,000 Employee Share Option Plan options 
exercisable at 15 cents each on or before the expiry date of 7 May 2014. The options were fair valued 
at 4.27 cents per option (total value $170,800) and vested on the grant date of 8 November 2013. The 
fair value of these options was calculated using the Black Scholes option pricing model as follows: 
 

Exercise Price 14 cents 
Underlying share price 11 cents 
Maximum Life 18 months 
Expected volatility 100% 
Risk free interest rate 3.25% 
Dividend % pa Nil 

 
Historical volatility has been the basis of determining the basis of expected share price volatility and it 
is assumed that this is indicative of future trends, which may not eventuate. 
 
The life of options is based on historical exercise patterns, which may not eventuate in the future.  
 
19. Key Management Personnel Disclosure 
 
Names and positions of key management personnel of the economic and parent entities in office at 
any time during the reporting period are: 
 
Key Management Personnel Position 
R Crabb Chairman, Non Executive 
C Mackay Director, Managing Director 
G Rodgers Executive Director (Finance) 
G Lamont Director, Non Executive 
N Alhammadi Director, Non Executive (to 16 August 2013) 
H Butcher Company Secretary 
 
Compensation for Key Management Personnel 
 Consolidated 
 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 
Short-term employee benefits 675,500 904,782 
Post employment benefits 77,240 98,022 
Termination benefits - 95,897 
Share based payments - 170,800 

 752,740 1,269,501 
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Other Transactions with Directors 
 
During the reporting period, Mr R Crabb advanced a short term loan of $50,000 (2013: $500,000) to 
the Company. This loan was repaid during the year together with accrued interest of $247 (2013: 
$836). This loan was unsecured and bore interest at the rate of 10% per annum. 
 
In March 2013, Mr Crabb through an associated entity agreed to sub-underwrite $400,000 of a 
renounceable entitlement issue to eligible shareholders of the Company.  No fee was received by Mr 
Crabb in this connection. 
 
All transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions and are 
conducted on an arms’ length basis. 
 
20. Remuneration of Auditors – Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
 
 Consolidated 
 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 
Audit or review of the financial statements 60,775 61,800 
Non audit services (taxation and other advice)  26,586 6,200 

 87,361 68,000 

 
21. Related Parties 
 
Directors and Key Management Personnel 
 
Disclosures relating to directors and key management personnel are set out in the Directors’ Report 
and note 19. 
 
Subsidiaries 

 
The Group consists of Golden Rim and its subsidiaries detailed in note 23. Transactions between 
Golden Rim and its subsidiaries during the year ended 30 June 2014 consisted of loans on an interest 
free basis with no fixed term and no specific repayment arrangements.  No amounts were included in 
the determination of operating loss before tax of the parent entity that resulted from transactions with 
its subsidiaries except for an additional provision for doubtful debts of $3,332,706 (2013 - $6,409,556) 
in relation to these loans. Golden Rim also made a provision for diminution of $ nil (2013: $1,869) in 
relation to the investment in its subsidiaries. 
 
Aggregate amounts receivable from subsidiaries in the Group at balance date were as follows: 
 
 Parent Entity 
 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 
Non-current receivables  28,817,524 25,490,295 
Provision for doubtful debts  (28,817,524) (25,490,295) 

 - - 

 
22. Parent Entity Disclosures 
 
Financial Position Parent Entity 

 
2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 
Assets   
   
Current assets 1,449,410 559,206 
Non-current assets 594,080 623,759 

   
Total assets 2,043,490 1,182,965 
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Financial Position Parent Entity 

 
2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 
Liabilities   
   
Current liabilities 3,364,212 394,102 
Non-current liabilities 51,715 43,014 

   
Total liabilities 3,415,927 437,116 

   
Net (liabilities) / assets (1,372,437) 745,849 

   
Equity   
   
Issued capital 58,658,576 55,201,778 
Reserves   
  Option reserve 3,430,094 7,502,382 
  Asset revaluation reserve (50,000) (50,000) 
Accumulated losses (63,411,107) (61,908,311) 

   
Total (deficit) / equity (1,372,437) 745,849 

 
 
Financial Performance Parent Entity 

 
2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 
   
Loss for the year (5,575,084) (10,776,967) 
Other comprehensive income - (206,250) 

   
Total comprehensive Income (5,575,084) (10,983,217) 

 
In 2013 and 2014 the parent entity did not enter into any guarantees in relation to the debts of its 
subsidiaries, enter into any commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment or have 
any contingent liabilities. 
 
23. Subsidiaries and transactions with Non-Controlling Interests 
 
(a) Interest in subsidiaries 
 
Set out below are the Group’s subsidiaries at 30 June 2014. Unless otherwise stated, the subsidiaries 
as listed below have share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are held directly by the 
Group, and the proportion of ownership interests held is equal to the voting rights held by the Group. 
The country of incorporation is also their principal place of business. 
 
Associated Gold Mines of Victoria Pty Ltd has a 30 June financial year end. On 8 September 2014 the 
company was de-registered. The other subsidiaries have 31 December financial year ends.  
 
On 13 July 2012, a wholly owned subsidiary, Golden Rim Resources Cote d’Ivoire was incorporated 
with a share capital of $1,869. 
 
On 15 July 2013, a wholly owned subsidiary, Rimfire Resources Ltd was de-registered. 
 



 
Golden Rim Resources Ltd  

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2014 
 

 
Page | 65 

 

Name of Subsidiary 
Country of 

Incorporation 
Cost of Company’s 

Investment 

Group’s 
Ownership 

Interest 
  2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 
2014 

% 
2013 

% 
Associated Gold Mines of Victoria Pty Ltd Australia 116,974 116,974 100 100 
Rimfire Resources Ltd

  
 Vanuatu - 150,000 - 100 

Golden Rim SAR Exploration SARL Mali 338,834 338,834 90 90 
Golden Rim Mali SA

 
 Mali 22,602 22,602 100 100 

Golden Rim Resources Burkina SARL Burkina Faso 2,141 2,141 100 100 
Talpha Burkina SARL Burkina Faso 2,086 2,086 100 100 
Golden Rim Resources Cote d’Ivoire  Ivory Coast 1,869 1,869 100 100 

  484,506 634,506   

 
The Company has made a provision for impairment in value against the full cost of its investment in 
subsidiaries. 
 
(b) Significant restrictions 
 
There are no significant restrictions noted in relation to these subsidiaries. 
 
(c) Non-controlling interests (NCI) 
 
Set out below is summarised financial information for Golden Rim SAR Exploration SAR in which a 
10% ownership interest is held by non-controlling interests. The amounts disclosed are before 
intercompany eliminations. 
 
 Golden Rim SAR Exploration SARL 
Summarised Financial Position 
 

2014 
$ 

2013 
$ 

   
Current assets 1,661 2,335 
Non current assets 30,819 33,496 

   
Total assets 32,480 35,831 

   
Current liabilities - - 
Non current liabilities 5,527,773 5,477,425 

   
Total liabilities 5,527,773 5,477,425 

   
Net liabilities (5,495,293) (5,441,594) 

   
Accumulated NCI (549,529) (544,159) 

 
 Golden Rim SAR Exploration SARL 
 
Summarised Financial Performance 

2014 
 

2013 

 $ $ 
Loss for the period (52,555) (148,944) 
Other comprehensive income (1,143) (12,292) 

   
Total comprehensive income (53,698) (161,236) 

   
Loss allocated to NCI (5,255) (14,894) 

   
Total comprehensive income allocated to NCI (5,370) (16,123) 
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 Golden Rim SAR Exploration SARL 
 2014 2013 
Summarised Cash Flows   
 $ $ 
Cash outflow from investing activities (20,203) (80,658) 
Cash inflow from financing activities 19,529 83,160 

 
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents          (674) 

  
(2,502) 

 
24. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows 
 
(a) Reconciliation of Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand 
and at call, deposits with banks, and investments in money market instruments net of outstanding 
bank overdrafts. Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement 
of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as 
follows: 
 
 Consolidated 
 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 
   
Cash at bank 1,357,582 500,222 

 
(b) Reconciliation of Loss after Income Tax to Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities 
 
 Consolidated 
 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 

Operating loss after income tax (4,955,439) (10,200,990) 
   
Depreciation 208,415 251,661 
Gain on sale of rights to exploration interests - (147,651) 
Loss on sale of plant and equipment 31,514 1,106 
Loss on sale of available for sale investments - 750,000 
Cumulative gain reclassified from equity on disposal of 
available for sale investments - (156,250) 
Exploration costs written off 2,894,227 6,923,304 
Share based payments - 170,800 
Effect of foreign currency translation (12,926) (11,556) 
Share of loss of joint venture entity 15,635 113,533 
   
Change in operating assets and liabilities   
   
(Increase) / Decrease in receivables (95,154) 7,180 
Decrease / (Increase) in other current assets 29,607 (28,268) 
Decrease / (Increase) in rental bonds 9,315 (18,640) 
Decrease in trade and other payables 17,833 3,804 
Decrease in provision for employee entitlements (3,565) (33,450) 

   
Net cash outflow from operating activities (1,860,538) (2,375,417) 
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25. Earnings per Share 
 
 2014 

Cents 
2013 

Cents 
Basic and diluted loss per share (0.68) (2.10) 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the 

year used in the calculation of basic loss per share 730,751,011 484,861,863 

 
As detailed in note 17(a) the Company had on issue 96,016,667 (2013: 33,650,000) unlisted options 
to subscribe for fully paid ordinary shares exercisable between 1.5 cents and 29 cents each at any 
time on or before the expiry dates.  As the exercise price of these options at balance date was greater 
than the market price of the shares, it is considered the options are unlikely to be exercised and 
consequently have not been considered dilutive.  
 
None of the options have been included in the determination of basic and diluted earnings per share.   
 
The loss attributable to the owners of the Company has been used in the calculation of basic loss per 
share. 
 
26. Financial Instruments 
 
Net Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities 
 
Available for sale investments included in other financial assets (note10) are measured at fair value 
on a recurring basis, using quoted bid prices in an active market (Level 1 hierarchy). 
 
The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group approximate their fair 
values.     
 
The aggregate net fair values and carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities are 
disclosed in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and in the notes to and forming part of 
these financial statements. 
 
 



 

 

Carrying Amounts of Financial Assets and Liabilities of the Group 
 

 Fixed Interest Rate Floating Interest Rate Non interest Bearing Total 

 2014 
$ 

2013 
$ 

2014 
$ 

2013 
$ 

2014 
$ 

2013 
$ 

2014 
$ 

2013 
$ 

Financial Assets         
Cash and cash equivalents 1,032,000 46,983 210,555 320,573 115,027 132,666 1,357,582 500,222 
Trade and other receivables - - - - 136,961 41,807 136,961 41,807 

Other current assets - 12,745 - - 38,384 72,256 38,384 85,001 

Other financial assets - - - - 89,628 98,943 89,628 98,943 

Total financial assets 1,032,000 59,728 210,555 320,573 380,000 345,672 1,622,555 725,973 

Interest rate 3.70% 4.10% 0.00% 2.17%     

         

Financial Liabilities         
Trade and other payables - - - - 363,142 369,602 363,142 369,602 
Borrowings 3,000,000 - - - - - 3,000,000 - 

Total financial liabilities 3,000,000 - - - 363,142 369,602 3,363,142 369,602 

Interest rate 12.00% - - -     

 
The fixed interest rate cash and cash equivalents are held in deposits of $32,000 and $1,000,000 for twelve month and three month terms respectively. 
 
Details of borrowings are disclosed in note 14. 
 
Interest Rate Risk 

 
The economic entity’s exposure to interest rate risk is the risk that a financial instrument’s value will fluctuate as a result of changes in market interes t rates and the 
effective weighted average interest rate on classes of financial assets and liabilities.  The Group does not have a major exposure in this area as the interest rate earned 
on deposited funds does not vary greatly from month to month.   
 
Sensitivity Analysis 
 
The Company has performed a sensitivity analysis relating to its exposure to interest rate risk at balance date. This sensitivity analysis demonstrates the effect on the 
current year results and equity which could result from a change in these risks. 
 
The effect on loss and total equity as a result of changes in the interest rate with all other variables remaining constant would be as follows: 



 
Golden Rim Resources Ltd 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2014 
 

 

Page | 69 

 Consolidated 
 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 
Change in loss   
- Increase interest rate by 1% (one basis point) (19,621) 3,004 
- Decrease interest rate by 1% (one basis point) 19,679 (3,004) 
Change in equity   
- Increase interest rate by 1% (one basis point) (19,621) 3,004 
- Decrease interest rate by 1% (one basis point) 19,679 (3,004) 

 
Credit Risk 
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security at balance 
date to recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets, net of any provisions for 
doubtful debts, as disclosed in the  Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and notes to and 
forming part of the financial statements. The Group does not have any material credit risk exposure to 
any single debtor or group of debtors under financial instruments it has entered into. 
 
Foreign Currency Risk and Sensitivity 
 
The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies, hence exposures to 
exchange rate fluctuations arise. These exposures mainly arise from costs incurred on overseas 
mineral exploration. Expenses payable in foreign currency are paid at the spot rate applicable on the 
date the invoice is paid. The Group does not hedge to reduce the foreign exchange risk as the 
directors believe the risk is not significant. The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency 
denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the reporting date in Australian dollars are as follows: 
 
 Consolidated 
 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 
Assets (cash and cash equivalents)   
- USD (US dollar) 9,938 1,112 
- XOF (CFA franc) 69,604 50,141 
- EUR (Euro) 35,456 80,993 
- FJD (Fiji dollar) 9,406 13,036 

Foreign currency denominated monetary assets 124,404 145,282 

   
Liabilities (trade and other payables)   
- XOF (CFA franc) 207,323 230,714 

 
Sensitivity Analysis  
 
The table below summarises the impact of a 10% weakening/strengthening of the AUD against the 
foreign currencies listed in the previous table. 
 
 Consolidated 
 AUD 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 
Change in loss and equity    
- Increase in USD rate by 10% +10% (903) (101) 
- Decrease in USD rate by 10% -10% 1,104 124 
- Increase in XOF rate by 10% +10% 12,520 16,416 
- Decrease in XOF rate by 10% -10% (15,302) (20,604) 
- Increase in EUR rate by 10% +10% (3,223) (7,363) 
- Decrease in EUR rate by 10% -10% 3,940 8,999 
- Increase in FJD rate by 10% +10% (855) (1,185) 
- Decrease in FJD rate by 10% -10% 1,045 1,448 
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Market Price Risk 
 
The Group is not exposed to any significant material market price risk. 
 
Liquidity Risk 
 
The Group manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast cash flows. 
 
The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial 
liabilities with agreed repayment periods. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted 
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. 
The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. The borrowings are expected to be repaid 
through the issue of shares in the Company as detailed in note 14.  
 
Liquidity risk table of Financial Liabilities 
 
 Weighted 

average 
effective 

interest rate 
% 

Less than 1 
month 

$ 

1-3 months 
$ 

3 months to 
1 year 

$ 

Total 
$ 

2014      
Non interest bearing - 277,900 37,810 - 315,710 
Fixed interest rate 
borrowings 12.00 1,650,000 - 1,450,743 3,100,743 

  1,927,900 37,810 1,450,743 3,416,453 

      
2013      
Non interest bearing - 308,551 61,051 - 369,602 

 
The following table details the Group’s expected maturity for its non-derivative financial assets. The 
table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual maturities of the financial assets 
including interest that will be earned on those assets. The inclusion of information on non-derivative 
financial assets is necessary in order to understand the Group’s liquidity risk management as the 
liquidity is managed on a net asset and liability basis. 
 
Liquidity risk 
table of Financial 
Assets 

Weighted 
average 
effective 

interest rate 
% 

Less than 1 
month 

$ 

1-3 months 
$ 

3 months 
to 1 year 

$ 

1-5 years Total 
$ 

2014       
Non interest bearing - 251,988 38,384  89,628 380,000 
Variable interest 
rate instruments - 210,555 - - - 210,555 
Fixed interest 
rate instruments 3.70 - 1,009,250 33,181 - 1,042,431 

  462,543 1,047,634 33,181 89,628 1,632,986 

       
2013       
Non interest bearing - 174,473 72,257 - 98,943 345,673 
Variable interest 
rate instruments 2.17 321,154 - 12,745 - 333,899 
Fixed interest 
rate instruments 4.10 - - 48,909 - 48,909 

  495,627 72,257 61,654 98,943 728,481 

 
The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for both non-derivative financial 
assets and liabilities is subject to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those estimates 
of interest rates determined at the end of the reporting period. 
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27. Segment Information 
 
The Group operates in one business, namely exploration for mineral resources in various 
geographical regions. The financial results from this business are presented to the Board on a 
geographical basis.  Information on a geographical segment basis is presented below: 
 
2014 

 
Australia 

 
Europe 

 
Africa 

 
Eliminations / 

Unallocated 
Economic 

Entity 
 $ $ $ $ $ 

Interest revenue - - - 9,658 9,658 
Other revenue 168,803 - - - 168,803 
Gains and losses (9,532) - (21,982) - (31,514) 
Interest expense 47,594 - - - 47,594 
Mineral exploration expenditure 
written off - 

 
- 2,860,684 33,543 2,894,227 

Depreciation expense 36,659 - 171,756 - 208,415 
Share of loss of joint venture 
entity - 15,635 - - 15,635 
Segment result 75,018 (15,635) (3,054,422) (1,960,400)

1 
(4,955,439) 

Income tax expense - - - - - 
Segment assets 74,543 395,295 2,081,176 1,529,712

2 
4,080,726 

Segment liabilities 3,168,774 - 207,323 108,476 3,484,573 
Additions to non-current assets 1,165 - 4,232 - 5,397 

 
2013 

 Australia Europe Africa Eliminations / 
Unallocated 

Economic 
Entity 

 $ $ $ $ $ 
Interest revenue - - - 31,345 31,345 
Other revenue 344 - - - 344 
Gains and losses (2,450) - 148,995 (593,750) (447,205) 
Interest expense 836 - - - 836 
Mineral exploration expenditure 
written off - 

 
- 6,791,914 131,390 6,923,304 

Depreciation expense 53,370 - 198,291 - 251,661 
Share of loss of joint venture 
entity - 113,533 - - 113,533 
Segment result (55,486) (113,533) (6,841,210) (3,190,761)

1 
(10,200,990) 

Income tax expense - - - - - 
Segment assets 169,568 369,286 1,471,465 589,417

2 
2,599,736 

Segment liabilities - - 230,714 263,884 494,598 
Additions to non-current assets 35,722 - 341,633 - 377,355 

 
1. This includes directors’ fees, share based payments and employee expenses 
2. This includes cash held by the parent entity in Australia 

 
The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies 
described in note 2. Segment result represents the results of each segment without allocation of 
central administration costs and directors’ salaries, share of losses of associates, investment income, 
gains and losses, finance costs and income tax expense. This is the measure reported to the chief 
operating decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment 
performance. 
 
28. Expenditure Commitments 
 
Exploration Commitments 
 
The Group has the following expenditure commitments under agreements for the acquisition of 
exploration interests, subject to the right to withdraw at any time. 
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 Consolidated 
 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 
Not later than one year 489,872 898,960 
Later than one year, but not later than 5 years 1,592,526 2,123,103 

 2,082,398 3,022,063 

 
Operating Lease Commitments 
 
Non-cancellable leases contracted for the lease of premises that have not been capitalised in the 
financial statements. 
 
 Consolidated 
 2014 

$ 
2013 

$ 
Not later than one year 129,052 127,958 
Later than one year, but not later than 5 years 70,769 202,168 

 199,821 330,126 

 
29. Contingent Liabilities 
 
The Mali tax authorities have advised Golden Rim SAR Exploration SARL that the company has a 
withholding tax liability of $165,751 for the years 2010 to 2012 plus a 100% penalty. Tax advisors in 
Mali have been engaged to investigate this claim but to date have been unable to obtain sufficient 
details regarding the validity of the claim from the authorities. As such, at this stage the directors are 
uncertain as to whether this claim would result in the outflow of resources and the amount and timing 
of such outflow should it eventuate.   
. 
30. Events Occurring after Balance Date 
 
Since the end of the reporting period, except as stated below and elsewhere in this Annual Report, 
there has not been any matter or circumstance occurring subsequent to the end of the reporting 
period that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the operations of the consolidated 
entity, or the state of affairs of the consolidated entity in future financial years. 
 
On 31 July 2014, Mr Gilbert Rodgers’ role as an executive of the Company became redundant. 
Accordingly, Mr Rodgers received termination pay of $141,878 in accordance with his employment 
agreement and statutory requirements.  
 
On 2 May 2014, the Company entered into a A$3 million agreement for funding through a secured 
convertible loan from Aurora Minerals Limited (note 14). Repayment of the loan is by way of two 
tranches. Subsequent to shareholder approval, the first tranche was repaid by converting $1.65 million 
of the loan into 206,250,000 Shares (at a deemed issue price of 0.8 cents per Share) on 10 July 2014. 
 
On 28 July 2014, 24,414,329 fully paid ordinary shares in the Company at an issue price of 0.8 cents 
per share were issued to raise $195,315. 
 
On 10 September 2014, the Company announced it had signed a formal Finders Agreement with an 
affiliate of Sprott Inc. (Sprott). The agreement provides for the placement of a minimum of 230 million 
shares and up to 275 million shares in the Company at an issue price of $0.011 per share. For every 
two shares issued, subscribers receive one attaching unlisted option with an exercise price of $0.0165 
and expiring on the third anniversary of issuance. On 18 September 2014 the Company announced it 
had received commitments from investors to subscribe for at least 233,305,000 shares which will raise 
A$2,566,355 (before costs) Currently these funds are being held in escrow. The raising remains 
subject to shareholder approval of the issuance of the shares and options under the Finders 
Agreement and also subject to shareholders approving the second tranche conversion under the 
Aurora loan agreement. A general meeting of shareholders to seek both approvals is scheduled to be 
held in late October 2014. 
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Sprott will receive a fee of 6% of the amount raised (half payable upon achievement of the minimum 
subscription and the balance payable at closing), and that number of non-transferable compensation 
options (each with an exercise price of A$0.0165 and expiring on the second anniversary of their 
issue) equal to 6% of the number of Shares issued.  
 
   
 
 

 



 
Golden Rim Resources Ltd 

 

 
Page | 74 

Directors’ Declaration 
 
The directors declare that: 
 
(a) in the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company 

will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable; 
 

(b) in the directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements are in compliance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards, as stated in note 2(a) to the financial 
statements; 
 

(c) in the directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in 
accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including compliance with accounting 
standards and giving a true and fair view of the financial position and performance of 
the consolidated entity; and 
 

(d) the directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the 
Corporations Act 2001. 

 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to section 295(5) of 
the Corporations Act 2001 
 
 
On behalf of the Directors 
 
 

 
Rick Crabb  
Chairman 
22 September 2014 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the 

members of Golden Rim Resources Ltd 
 

Report on the Financial Report  
 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Golden Rim Resources Ltd, which comprises the 

consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2014, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 

other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of cash flows and the consolidated statement of changes 

in equity for the year ended on that date, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other 

explanatory information, and the directors’ declaration of the consolidated entity, comprising the company and the 

entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year as set out on pages 39 to 74.  

 

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report 

 

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair 

view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal 

control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In Note 2(a), the directors also state, in accordance with 

Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that the consolidated financial statements 

comply with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

 

Auditor’s Responsibility 
 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 

accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with relevant ethical 

requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether 

the financial report is free from material misstatement.   

 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks 

of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 

the auditor considers internal control, relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial report that gives a true 

and fair view, in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 

of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 

appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, 

as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report. 

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 

opinion. 

 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 

 

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. We 

confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been given to the 

directors of Golden Rim Resources Ltd, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of this 

auditor’s report. 
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Opinion 
 

In our opinion: 

 

(a) The financial report of Golden Rim Resources Ltd is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 

including: 

 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2014 and of its 

performance for the year ended on that date; and 

 

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 

 

(b) the consolidated financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as 

disclosed in Note 2(a). 

 

Emphasis of Matter 

 

Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 2 (c) in the financial report which indicates that the 

consolidated entity incurred a loss of $4,955,439 and experienced net cash outflows from operating and investing 

activities of $5,597,775 for the year ended 30 June 2014, and as of that date, the consolidated entity’s current 

liabilities exceeded its current assets by $1,899,931. These conditions, along with other matters as set forth in 

Note 2 (c), indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the ability of 

the company and consolidated entity to continue as going concerns and therefore, the company and consolidated 

entity may be unable to realise their assets and discharge their liabilities in the normal course of business. 

 

Report on the Remuneration Report  
 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 32 to 36 of the directors’ report for the year ended 30 

June 2014. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration 

Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion 

on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 

 

Opinion 

 

In our opinion the Remuneration Report of Golden Rim Resources Ltd for the year ended 30 June 2014, complies 

with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  

 

 

 

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 

 

 

 

Chris Nicoloff 

Partner 

Chartered Accountants 

Perth, 22 September 2014 
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Additional Shareholder Information 
 
The following additional information is current as at 11 September 2014 and is provided in 
compliance with the requirements of ASX.  
 

Distribution of Listed Ordinary Shares and Options 
 
The following is an analysis of the number of shareholders by size of holding. 
 

Distribution No. of Shareholders No. of Option 
holders 

1 - 1,000 357 - 
1,001 - 5,000 502 - 
5,001 - 10,000 296 - 
10,001 - 100,000 1,277 - 
100,001 and over 803 29 

Total holders 3,235 29 

 
There were 1,926 shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel of shares and 2,631 
shareholders holding less than an economic parcel of shares.  
 
The percentage of the total of the 20 largest holders of ordinary shares was 50.79%.  
 
96,016,667 options are held by 29 individual option holders. Options do not carry a right to 
vote. 
 

20 Largest Shareholders 
 
The names of the 20 largest shareholders of shares are listed below: 
 
Name No of Shares Held % 

Aurora Minerals Ltd 206,250,000 19.5 

HSBC Custody Nominees Australia Ltd 69,754,210 6.59 

PAL Technology Services LLC 52,521,875 4.97 

J P Morgan Nominees Australia Ltd  45,584,738 4.31 

Fitel Nominees Ltd  24,256,167 2.29 

Rick Crabb 19,579,189 1.85 

Michael Burrows 15,303,922 1.45 

UBS Wealth Management Australia Nominees  13,615,384 1.29 

DJ & LM Dwyer 12,600,817 1.19 

Zadnik Holdings Pty Ltd 10,422,868 .99 

G C Hinchliffe  8,875,571 .84 

Metallica Investments Pty Lt 8,364,955 .79 

William and M G Jansen  7,850,000 .74 

Citicorp Nominees Pty Ltd  7,222,976 .68 

DJ & LM Dwyer 6,601,162 .62 

Lim Keng Hock Jonathan 6,250,000 .59 

Regency Developments WA Pty Ltd 5,991,651 .57 

Leet Investments Pty Ltd 5,512,412 .52 
Graziani A & M 5,462,216 .52 

Chin Nominees Pty Ltd 5,166,667 .49 

Total 537,186,780 50.79 
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Substantial Shareholders 
 
The substantial shareholders of the Company are as follows: 
 
Name No of Shares Held % 
Aurora Minerals Ltd  206,250,000 19.5 
Acorn Capital Ltd 111,958,250 10.58 
PAL Technology Services LLC (Royal Group) 54,481,450 5.15 
 

Voting Rights 
 
The Company's share capital is of one class being ordinary shares. The voting rights 
attached to those shares are that on a show of hands every shareholder present in person 
or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each share shall have one vote. 
 

Restricted Securities 
 
There are no shares on issue that have been classified by ASX, as restricted securities. 
 

Securities Exchange Listing 
 
Golden Rim shares are listed on the Australian Securities Exchange.  The home branch of 
the exchange is in Perth.  
 
The Company’s shares only are quoted on the Berlin Stock Exchange in Germany. 
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